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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

RENEE MIDDLETON
Plaintiff. : Civil Action No.: 17-88RC)
V. : Re Document Ne.: 10, 12

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA et al.

Defendans.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART PLAINTIFF 'SM OTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ;
GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT’SCROSSM OTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Renee Middletomppeals frona final administrative decision thpartly rejected
her claim that District of Columbia Public Schools (“DCPS”) violated the Indalgiwith
Disabilities Education Act'IDEA”) by failing to provide her son A.T. with a free appropriate
public education. Before the Court are the parties’ enaggons for summary judgment.
FindingthatDCPS fellshort of meeting its obligations under the IDERfimarily by virtue of
its unilateral decision to place A.T. in programming inappropriate farapabilities and needs
a root-deep error that marred other aspects of the formation and implementatiorisofZR$
—the Court grants in part and denies in part both parties’ motions and remands thistease to t

hearingofficer for further proceedingsonsistent with this Opinian
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[I. BACKGROUND
A. Statutory Framework

By enacting theéDEA, Congress souglid protect the rights of children with disabilities
and parents of such children and to “ensure that all children with disabilities hdablava
them a free appropriate public educatioB0 U.S.C. § 1400(d)({3), (B). Afree appropriate
public education, oFAPE, includes “special education” (defined by the Act as “specially
designed instruction . . . to meet the unique needs of a child wisalaldy”) and “related
services” (defined as “transportation, and such developmental, corrective, ansLptative
services . . . as may be required to assist a child with a disability to bemafggexial
education). Id. 8 1401(9), (26), (29)Special education and related services must also “meet
the standards of the State educational agenicly.8 1401(9)(B).

Children determinedligible for special education and servicesler the IDEA receive
an “individualized educational program,” or IERL. § 14010)(D), (14). “The IEP is the means
by which special education and related services are ‘tailored to the unique rieedartocular
child.” Endrew F. ex rel. Joseph F. v. Douglas Cty. Sch. Dist., RE371S. Ct. 988, 994 (2017)
(quotingBd. of Ed. of Hendrick Hudson CeB8th. Dist., Westchester Cty. v. Rowk)8 U.S.
176, 181 (1982)). Preparbg an “IEP Team*™composed of the child’s parents or guardians,
the child’s teacher, a representative of a local educational agencwleetkver appropriate, the
child, 20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(B)the IEPsets out the child’s present academic and functional
performance, establishes measurable academic and functional goals foldthenchstates the
special education and related servittext will be provided for the childid. § 1414(d)(1)(A).

For childrenwho are sixteegears old or older, the |IEfustalsoinclude “appropriate

measurable postsecondary goals based upon age appropriate transition assessunamts”



explanation of théransition services necessary to assist the child in reaching thoselgo&ls.
1414(d)(1)(A)(H(VIIN). The IEP Team reviesihechild’s IEP at least annuallyid. §
1414(d)(4)(A)(i). And theEP Team may revise the IEP as appropriate to addreshifldés
anticipated needs, any lack of expected progress toward annual goals, and ténsr lchag
1414(d)(4)(A)(ii). At a minimum, the IEP must be “reasonably calculated to enable [the] child
to make progress appropriate in light of the child’swsmmstances.”Endrew F, 137 S. Ct. at

999. Additionally, the IDEA requires that “to the maximum extent appropriate, ahidte
disabilities . . . are educated with children who are not disabled.” 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1&)@Aa)(
Courts in this jurisdiction have concluded that an IEP Team is required to distuseat’s
specific “Least Restrictive Environment” (“LRE”) and that the IEP is rexglio include at least
a brief description athe child’s LRE Brown v. Distict of Columbia 179 F. Supp. 3d 15, 26-28
(D.D.C. 2016).

“[A]ware that schools had all too often denied [children with disabilities] apatepr
educations without in any way consulting their parents, Congress rdgeatgzhasized
throughout the Acthe importance and indeed the necessity of parental participation in both the
development of the IEP and any subsequent assessments of its effectiveloesg.V. Doe 484
U.S. 305, 311 (1988). To that end, the IDEA establiphesedural safeguards th@bvide
parents with “both an opportunity for meaningful input into all decisions affedtegigchild’s
education and the right to seek review of any decisions they think inapproptétat”311-12.
Furthermore, the IDEA provides only baseline standa#sRowley 458 U.S. at 200. States
may afford additional procedural and substantive protectisadpng as those requirements are
not inconsistent with the IDEASeeG. ex rel. Ssgt RG v. Fort Bragg Dependent S&2sl F.3d

240, 249(4th Cir. 2003). In that veintheDistrict of Columbia—which is a State for purposes of



the IDEA, 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1401(31)eHfers some procedural safeguards that exceed the federal
standards.See, e.g.D.C. Code § 38-2571.03. Notablfji]f state legislation implemeting

IDEA creates a higher standard than the federal minimum, an individual mgyalnraction
under the federal statute seeking to enforce the state stan@alld:” Columbia 93 Sch. Dist.
217 F.3d 1027, 1035 (8th Cir. 2008ge als®0 U.S.C. 8§ 1401(9) (defining a FAPE as, among
other things, special education and related services that “meet the standaedStafe
educational agency”).

A parent may lodge a due processptaint to challenge the school district’s provision
of aFAPE based on either procedural or substantive violations of the IDEA and may demand an
“impartial due process hearirig20 U.S.C8 1415 (b)(6), (f)(1).At that hearing, the parties may
present evidence and elicit expert testimony about the child’s educationahatidril needs.

Id. 8 1415(f), (h). After the hearing, the independent hearing officer (“IHO”) $ssukecision
(the“HOD”), evaluatingvhether the school district denied the student a FAPE and, if so,
describing any appropriate remedyeeid. 8§ 1415(f)(3)(E);seealsoB.D. v. District of
Columbig 817 F.3d 792, 798 (D.C. Cir. 2016). A parent aggrieved by the denisipiseek
review in the appropriate fedewdiktrict court. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2).

B. Factual Background

A.T., who was born in 2000 and who resides in the District of Columbia, is considered a
“child with a disability” under the IDEA. Def.’s Statement of MaterialtSddot in Dispute
(“Def.’s SMFND”) 11 £11, ECF No. 13-2PI.’s Statement of Material Fact®Nn Dispute
(“Pl’'s SMFND”) 11, ECF No. 10-2s2e20 U.S.C. § 1401(83). For the 2014-2015 school
year—A.T.’s eighth grade yearhewas enrolled at Sousa Middle School (“Sous®gf.’s

SMFND ¢ 19 At Sousa, A.T. was placed in a ftillhe, selfcontanedclass of elevestudents,



where he participated programming geared towalalv functioning students with
communication and other cognitive and agkieent deficits. Pl.'s SMFND Y¥8. The
students in A.T.’s class had limited interactions wihlr non-disabled peers and traveled in a
group withan aide any time that they needednove to other locations in the buildinBl.’s
SMEND 1 4.

When A.T.’s eighth gradgearwascoming to a close, some memberfisflEP Team—
specifically, a special education teacher, a school representative and assessnataot,evalu
general education teacher, and a speech pathglsegtEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 34BCF
No. 7-4—convened to revise his IEP in anticipation of his transition to high scBedPl.’s
SMFND 11 810; Def.’s SMFEND | 20tEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 343-62. Howeweejther
A.T.’s mother Renee Middleton ntre family’'seducationabdvocateDr. IdaJean Holman was
notified of the meeting and neithatended it SeePl.’'s SMFND {19-10; Testimony of Ida
Jean Holman (“Holman Tr.”), Admin. R. at 1287-88, ECF No. 8-5. Indeellay¥, 2015, Dr.
Holman requested a meeting to review A.T.’s progress, and received no indicdtitwe tha
school hadilready conducted its anal IEP reviewneeting Holman Tr., Admin. R. at 1288;
Email from Dr. Ida Jean Holman to Nicola Stewadmin. R. at 120. The record contains no
notes from the April 2015 IEP meetin§eeHearing Officer Determination (“HOD”), Admin.
R. at 10; Holman Tr., Admin. R. at 1288.

The IEPdevelopedat theApril 2015 meeting listed A.T. as having multiple disabilities,
including Speech-anguage ImpairmentlEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 343. Castent with his
past IEPs, it also documented A.T.’s stleg with mathematics, readirapd witing. At the
time thatthe IEP was writtenA.T.’s standarized test scores in all of thoaeeas fell within the

“very low range.” IEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 345—-48.mathematics, for exampla,T.



performed at the 1.1 gradevel equivalent; imeading, A.T'sassessmerstatedthat“he is

unable to read due to an inability to blend phonetic sounds along with severe memory retention
problems.” IEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 34 urthermore, various evaluationsvealed that

A.T. had low cognitive functioning. IEP 4/25/2015, Admin. R. at 3#iBe April 20151EP

indicated thalA.T.’s various “deficifs] and his extreme struggles with memory retengticavent

him from being able to access the general education curriculum at the #Hayalt—a

referencdo a grade lower than A.T.’s—and noted that Ar€équire[d] constant assistance,
significant modifications and differentiation to access curriculum that is sigmtifydaelow

grade levél in mathematics, reading, and writintEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 345-48.

A.T.’s April 2015 IEP called for 27 hours per week of specialized instruction outside of
the general education settinlzP 4/24/2015Admin. R. at 352. A.T. would also receive 120
minutes per month—30 minutes per weelf-speecHanguage services. |IE#24/2015,

Admin. R. at 352. This amounts to a ftithe placement in a special education settihge IEP
acknowledged that A.T. would &mefit from the use of assistive technology for learning,” and
explained that A.T. had “been provided an iPad with various programs for academitiRe.”
4/24/2015, AdminR. at 352. With respect to other services, Awas deemedligible for

special ducation transportation to and from school and for Extended School &Y (f
programming. |IEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 356.

The April 2015 IEP alsdescribedh post-secondary transition plan for A.3eelEP
4/24/2015, Admin. Rat 353-62. According to the docume,T. expressed an academic
interest in science and employment interests in truck driving or in “usinghaegister, working
from 95 and keeping detailed reports.” IEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 359. Upon graduation

from high school, A.T. would “attend a job training program for a job of his choice.” IEP



4/24/2015, AdminR. at 359.To prepare A.T. for post-secondary education and traittieg
IEP stated that, within the yed,T. would use the internet to identify four different locations
that offer information on job training programs. He would also map out how and when he would
visit each location and would present angla his case managelEP 4/24/2015, AdmirR. at
360. To prepare A.T. for posecondary empionent A.T. would identifytraits consistent with
individuals who are employed in a 9-5 career, and he would document the knowledge, skills, and
abilities necessary to have a successful career-# p@&sition. IEP 4/24/2015, AdmiR. at
360. Afterward, hewould present his findings to his case manager. The IEP listed A.T.’s post-
secondargmploymengoal as to “be employed” upon graduation from high school. IEP
4/24/2015, AdminR. at 360.Finally, A.T.’s April 2015 IEP listed his “projected exit categor
as“H.S. Diploma,” rather than either “H.S. Certificate prior to age 21” or “H.&tificate at age
21.” IEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 362.

During the summer before A.T.’s ninth grade year, the special educatimhraior at
Sousa advised Ms. Middleton that she should enroll A.T. at Woodson Senior High School
(“Woodson”), A.T.’s neighborhood school—a decision apparently made “dowhta¥rer than
by any members of A.T.’s IEP TearRl.’s SMFND 9 25Holman Tr., Admin. R. at 1290-91.
However, the sp®al education coordiator did not provide Ms. Middleton or Dr. Holman with
any further information about A.T.’s plaoent or about the programmingwhich he would be
enrolled in high school, despitepeatedequests for such informatidnSeePl.’'s SMFND 11

24-25. Nevertheless, Ms. Middleton enrolled A.T. at Woodson. Pl.’s SMFND Alf&s. A.T.

1 According to Dr. Holman, Ms. Middleton did not receive the Location of Services
letter, which clarified that A.T. would be enrolled in the Specific Learnungp8rt (“SLS”)
program at Woodson. New Location for Special Education Services for [Redact&dhbol
Year 2015-2016, Admin. R. at 363.



arrived at Woodson-an arrivaldelayed several dayy confusion about whether Woodson was
in fact the school to which A.T. had been assigsedEmail from Ida Jean Holman to Lloyd
Bryant (Aug. 27, 2015), AdmirR. at121-23—Dr. Holman continued to request information
about A.T.’s programming and asked for ad2+ eview meeting to assess A.T.’s adjustment to
the new schoolSeeAdmin. R. at 124-28. Several of Dr. Holman’s emails went unanswered
and Ms. Middleton received no immediate clarification about A.T.’s programn3agAdmin.
R. at 124-28.In September and October 201adugh her educational advocatés. Middleton
communicated conces that A.T. had reportedheenabsenfrom several classes and had been
spending “a majority of his days wandering the halls of Woodson.” Adriiat124-25, 128.
On October 19, 2015, Ms. Middleton and her educational advoeteith\Woodson
schoolofficials. During thameeting, Ms. Middleton apparentarned thaA.T. was enrolled
in the “diploma track” and that he was taking four “core” cour&eeMeeting Notes,
10/19/2015, Admin. R. at 378, ECF No. 7-8he also learned that he was takiagong other
things,two general education classeblusic and Physical Education—and an inclusstyle,
twenty-five student World History class, from which A.T. was periodically removed for
specialized instructimin a smaller group of about seventeen stude®¢eMeeting Notes,
10/19/2015, Admin. R. at 378t the meeting, Ms. Middleton and Dr. Holmaitsopurportedly
mentioned their concerns that Woodson was not properly implementing A.T.'s IEP. Pl.’s
SMFND § 37.Days laterDr. Holman sent a follow-up letter to Woodson'’s special education
coordinatordetailingconcerns—namely thatA.T. was enrolled in two general education
coursesven though his IEP called for fulme special education programmjtigathis
mathematics and English placementsmiatl seem suited for his level of skill ability, thatA.T.

was not consistently receiving one-to-one instruction, that A.T. had not been given an iPad or



other assistive technology, that A.T. was consistently failing to eat dusragsigned lunch
peiiod, that A.T.’s behavioral plan was not properly suited to reduce his anxiety, addThat
went from placement in a satbntained clasat Sousa to placement in an integrated program at
Woodson without any attention to Ms. Middleton’s views on theenaBeel etter from Dr.
Holman to Ms. Lumumba-Umoja, (Oct. 23, 2015), Admin. R. at 134-36.

The next month, Dr. Holman wrote to Woodson'’s special education coordinator to
schedule a time to observe A.T. at schadel etter from Dr. Holman to Ms. Lumumbiamoja
(Nov. 9, 2015), Admin. R. at 140. The coordinator explained that in order to secure approval for
such a visit, Ms. Middleton would have to submit a parental consent form and Dr. Holman would
have to identify the focus of her proposed observation and submit a signed observer
confidentiality agreementSeeAdmin. R. at 141-52. Insisting that several provisions of the
confidentiality agreement violated District of Coibia law, Dr. Holman refused to sign, even
after an attorney fobCPS suggeted tlat Dr. Holman could sigthe form indicatethat she had
signed it “under protest,” and coulsbecify” any provision that she believed violated the law.
SeeAdmin. R. at 148-52. Because Dr. Holman would not sign the agreement, she was not
permitted to bserve A.T. in schoolSeeHOD, Admin. R. at 30 (listing issue as “[w]hether
DCPS denied [A.T.] a FAPE by preventing Parent’s expert from observing [iinn§ current
placement”).

Over the next few months, Dr. Holman reiterated concerns about A.T.’s programing
A.T.’s attendance issues, and Woodson’s implementation of A.T.’s$eBAdmin. R. at 153—

62. During that same period, school officials apparently repeatedly ignored Drakisl

several requestsr A.T.’s school recordsSeeE-mail from Dr. Holman to Ms. Lumumba



Umoja, Admin. R. at 162 (noting that the email constituted “the fourth or fifth” reqterdhée
same records”).

In February 2016, A.T."EP Team met to revise his IEFSeelEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R.
at 461. Like A.T.’s April 2015 IEP, his February 2016 IEP indicated that he is nuutgabled
and that he has deficits in writing, readiagd mathematicsSeelEP 2/9/2016, AdminR. at
462-69. According to his February 2016 IEP,]fflwconsistent prompting, enlistment, small
group instruction and discussion, [A.T.] will attempt daily classroom assignmakeats
instructians are given.” IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 463. And “when taught in a one-on-one
capacity or a very small group, [A.T.] is able to correctly complete . . . tagkfsfading
instructional support, modeling and extended time.” IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 463. However,
“[w]lhen there is limited prompting or [A.T.] is expected to complete [a] task indepdndee
had episodes of becoming confused and often ceased from attempting to complete the
assignment[s].IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 46 Functional Behavioral Ae&ssment
completed in laté&ebruary 2016 echoed these concerns and hypothesized that A.T. ikahpst |
to remain on task and frarticipate in the academic environment when he has an established
rapport with the staff, when he feels confident in his ability to do his work, and whemtee is
small, structured classroongeePl.’'s SMFND {1 7674.

The February 2016 IEP called for 25 hours per week of specialized instruction (2 hours
per week fewer than A.T.’s previous IEP) and 120 minutes per month of dpeguhge
pathology. IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 472—73. It also noted that A.T. wouldfitoeom the
use of assistive technology for learning.” IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 472. As in A. vieyse
IEP, A.T. was deemed eligible for transportation services. IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 476.

However, A.T. was deemed ineligible to participat&8i programming. IEP 2/9/2016,

10



Admin.R. at476. The post-secondary transition plan included in’&Hebruary 2016 IEP
listed his academic interest as “art/drawing,” and his employment interest asrkiéowUnited
Parcel Service.” IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 477. A.T.’s post-secondary education amg traini
goal remainedo attend‘a job training program for a job of his choice.” IEP 2/9/2016, Admin.
R. at 478. To work toward that goal, by February 2017, wak toidentify at least two job
training programs of interest to him. |IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 478. According to the IEP,
A.T.’s employment goal upon graduation was to “seek employment in an occupatiomestinte
to him.” IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 479. By February 2017, &g teidentify two or three
career interests and the requirements for those careers to make progressiogeal. IEP
2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 479. Finally, the February 2016 IEP kept A.T. on the diploma track. IEP
2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 481.

Shortly aftethe February 2016 IEP meeting, Dr. Holman sent a follpwaessage,
which sought clarity regarding whether all of A.T.’s classes wereceathined Letter,Admin.
R. at 173-75. Dr. Holman also expressed concern that Woodson had no plan in place to
remaliate A.T.’s reading difficulties; explained that A.T.’s writing and mathemgbeds
appeared to be beyond his abilities and that his reading goals were too vague ictibe; efel
offered that A.T.’soehavioral and attendanissues likely resulteddm the inappropriateness of
A.T.’s IEP and placememind his difficultiesunderstanding his assignments. Letter, Admin. R.
at 173-75.Dr. HolmanrecommendethatWoodson place A.T. in smaller classes and in a self-
contained program. Letter, Admin. &.174.

At the end of 2015-16 schoggar, A.T. was no promoted to the next grade because he

failed three coursesBiology, Employability Skills, and Physical Education. Pl.’s SMFND

11



86. A.T.’s school records indicated that he had logged 57 abstumieg the school yedr
Pl.’s SMFND 1 86.

In July 2016, Ms. Middleton filed an administrative complaint on behalf of herSea.
Admin. Compl., AdminR. at611-65. In it, she contended that DCPS had denied A.T. a FAPE
by failing to provide him with an appropriate IEP in April 201%eeAdmin. R. at 634-44. Ms.
Middleton argued that A.T.’s April 2015 IEP was inapproprizeausdt (1) placed him on the
diploma track, (2) focused on common core grade-level standards rather than &liactcbn
dally living skills, (3) contained an inappropriate transition plan, and (4) failed to include
information about the appropriate placement for A.T. and about the least res#ittironment
in which he could be educateddmin. Compl., Admin. R. at 634-44. Ms. Middleton also
assertedhat DCPShad denied A.T. a FAPE by changing his educational placement from a
small, selfcontained class at Sousaat@lacement thatequired additionahdependent
transitionsand by failing to provide all of A.T.’s specialized instruction hours outside of the
general education settindddmin. Compl., Admin. R. at 6441. In additionMs. Middleton
complained that Woodson had not taken appropriate actions to address Adbibtgirelated
attendance issuesd that the school had placed unreasonable and unlawful conditions on A.T.’s
educational advocate’s ability to observe A.T. in his educational placement. Adimpl.C
Admin.R. at 651-57. Finally, Ms. Middleton asserted that A.T.’s February 2016 IEP was also
inappropriate because (it) reduced his allottegpecial educatiomstructional hourq2)
continued higplacenenton the diploma track3) focused on common core grade-level standards

rather than functionalral daily living skills,(4) contained an inapppoiate transition plans)

2 On several of the days on which A.T. was marked absent, he attended some classes, but
missed othersSeePl.’s SMFND 1 86.
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failed to include information about the appropriate placement for A.T. and about hisnRE, a
(6) deemed A.T. ineligible for ESY, even though he had qualified in the past and appeared to
remain qualified for such programming. Admin. R. at 657—-63.

After a threeday hearing in October 2016—durindpich thehearing officeteard
testimony fromDr. Holman, Woodson'’s special education coordinates,of A.T.’s teachers,
experts in sahol placements and transition planning, and othéne+-HOdenied most of Ms.
Middleton’s claims, but granted a small numbéthem SeeHOD, Admin. R. at 21-32.

Notably, the hearing officer declined to find a violation of the IDEA due to Aplasement on
the diploma track SeeHOD, Admin. R. at 24. But the hearing officer also declined to resolve
whetherA.T.’s placement on diploma track was appropriate, instead ord&ring IEP Team

to meet with Ms. Middleton to discuss whether to shift A.T. to the certificatk. tF4OD,

Admin. R. at24.

ThelHO agreed with Ms. Middleton that, with regard to the April 2015 IEP, DCPS had
denied A.T. a FAPE by failing to include A.T.’s LRE on the IEP. HOD, Admin. R. at 27-28.
The IHO also found that DCPS had changed A.T.’s placement from a self-contaigeatped
Sousa to a largeenvironment at WoodsorHlOD, Admin.R. at 26. However, thilO
concluded that A.T.’s placement at Woodson was mahets reasonably calculated to enable
him to achieve educational benefit and, thus, was appropH&&®, Admin.R. at26-27. Still,
the IHO explained that DCPS had violated IDEA procedures and had denied A.T. a FAPE by
failing to involve A.T.’s parent in the decision to place A.T. in the SLS program at Woodson.
HOD, Admin.R. at 27. Finally, with respect to A.T.’s February 2016 IEP, the IHO noted that
DCPShad acknowledged that it erred in removing A.T. from ESY programming and inmgduci

the number of specialized instruction hours listed on his HEBD, Admin.R. at33-34.

13



According to the IHO, the removal from ESY programming denied A.T. a FAPE, betrthran
listing the number of specialized instruction hours did not because A.T. actuallekthe
appropriate number of hour§eeHOD, Admin. R. at 31-32. In all other respects, the IHO
found no denial of FAPE. The IHO granted compensatory relief in the form of 250dfiours
tutoring and/or artherapy HOD, Admin. R. at 33.

Ms. Middleton brought the present action in January 2@E2Compl., ECF No. 1. She
seeks review of thelOD and asks for compensatory relief for any denials of FAPE for which
she has not already been compensated. Canpk-36. Ms. Middleton also requests an order
specifying that A.T. requires an IEP and corresponding placement and praggatiat
includes (1) a minimum of 32 hours per week of specialized instruction outside of thal gener
education setting; (2) placement on the certificate tradkrasmaligroup programming that
focuses on functional/daily living skills and vocational trainiauggl(3) a “resultsoriented,
realistic, and appropriate pastcondaryransition” based on comprehersiassessments.
Compl.at36. The action is now before the Court on the parties’ cross-motions for summary

judgment. SeeECF Nos. 10, 12.

lll. LEGAL STANDARD
In reviewing a challenge under the IDEA, courts conduct a two-part inquirgt,“Ras
the State complied with the procedures set forth in the Act® second, is the individualized
educational program developed through the Act’s procedures reasonably calculatdaedie
child to receive educational benefitsBY. of Educ. of Hendrick Hudson Cent. Sch. Dist. v.
Rowley 458 U.S. 176, 206-07 (198@potnotes omitted). “[A] school district’s failure to
comply with the procedural requirements of IDEA will be *actionable’ orfl{hose procedural

violations affected the student’s substantive rightkeggett v. District of Columbj&93 F.3d

14



59, 67 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (quotinigesesne ex rel. B.F. v. District of Columbid7 F.3d 828, 832,
834 (D.C. Cir. 2006)). Regulations clarify that “[ijn matters alleging a proeédiniation, a
hearing officer may find that a child did not receive a FAPE drthe procedural inadequacies
(i) impeded the child’s right to a FAPE; (ii) significantly impeded the & @pportunity to
participate in the decisiemaking process regarding the provision of a FAPE to the parent’'s
child; or (iii) caused a deprivation of educational benefit.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.513(a)(2).

With respect to a purported substantive violation of the IDEA, a court must determine
whether the schodlistrict offered “an IEP reasonably calculated to enable [the] child to make
progress appropriate in light of the child’s circumstanc&ntirew F. ex rel. Joseph F. v.
Douglas Cty Sch. Dist. RE;-137 S. Ct. 988, 999 (2017)The key inquiry regarding an IEP’s
substantive adequacy is whether, taking account of what the school knew or readomddtly s
have known of a student’s needs at the time, the IEP it offered was reasonabtezhkoul
enable the specific student’s progres&.B. v. District of Columbia888 F.3d 515, 524 (D.C.

Cir. 2018). “The ‘reasonably calculated’ qualification reflects a recognition that ogaén

appropriate program of education requires a prospective judgment by schoalsoffEndrew

F., 137 S. Ct. at 992. To that end, a suitable IEP “need not guarantee the best possible education
or even dpotentialimaximizng’ one.” Leggetf 793 F.3d at 70 (quotingowley 458 U.S. at 197

n.21). Similarly, a mere tle minimidailure to implement all elements of [an] IEP” does not

amount to a violation of the IDEAWiIlson v. District of ColumbiaZ70 F. Supp. 2d 270, 274

(D.D.C. 2011). Rather, a party challenging a schggilict's implementation of an IEP must
“demonstrate that the school board or other authorities failed to implement sabstant

significant provisions of the IEPId., or that “deviations from the IEP’s stated requirements
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[were] ‘material.” Catalan ex rel. E.C. v. District of Columbi&78 F. Supp. 2d 73, 75 (D.D.C.
2007).

A court reviewing the findings and decision of a hearing offiggshall receive the
recoras of the administrative proceedings; (ii) shall hear additional evidence agtlestef a
party; and (iii) basing its decision on the preponderance of the evidence rahafiigch relief as
the court determines is appropriate.” 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1415@}23ee alsaC.F.R. § 300.516(c).
Although motions for review of an HO&re callednotions for summary judgment, the court
does not follow “a true summary judgment proceduteR.L. ex rel. Lomax v. District of
Columbig 896 F. Supp. 2d 69, 73 (D.D.C. 2012) (quotdjgi Unified Sch. Dist. v. Jacksp#
F.3d 1467, 1472 (9th Cir. 1993)). Instead, “[a] motion for samyjudgment operates as a
motionfor judgment based on the evidence comprising the record and any additional evidence
the Court may receive.D.R. ex rel. Robinson v. District of Colump&87 F. Supp. 2d 11, 16
(D.D.C. 2009). “Where, as here, neither party submits additional evidence for the court’
review, ‘the motion for summary judgment is simply the procedural vehicle Korgathejudge
to decide the case on the basis of the administrative recd@dC-C. v. District of Columbia
164 F. Supp. 3d 35, 44 (D.D.C. 2016) (quottepther S. v. Wisconsit25 F.3d 1045, 1052
(7th Cir. 1997)).

The party challenging the administrativeetatination “take[s] on the burden of
persuading the court that the hearing officer was wrok@rkam v. McKenzje862 F.2d 884,
887 (D.C. Cir. 1988). “While the court must make an independent determination, the court also
should give ‘due weight’ to the decision of the hearing officer and should afford somendefer
to the expertise of the hearing officer and the school officidlsK. v. District of Columbia983

F. Supp. 2d 138, 144 (D.D.C. 2018¢e alsdRowley 458 U.S. at 206 (“[T]he provisiohat a
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reviewing court base its decision on the ‘preponderance of the evidence’ is bym® ane
invitation to the courts to substitute their own notions of sound educational policy for those of
the school authorities which they review.Hurthermore, “flactual findings fran the
administrative proceedirgye to be considered prima facie correddark ex rel. Roark v.

District of Columbia 460 F. Supp. 2d 32, 38 (D.D.C. 20Q@alteration in original) (quotin&.H.

v. Sch. Dist. of NewaylB836 F.3d 260, 270 (3d Cir. 2003}lowever, courts are to offer “less
deference than is conventional in administrative proceedirigsidex rel. Reid v. District of
Columbig 401 F.3d 516, 521 (D.C. Cir. 2005). Araliearing decision without reasoned and

specific findings deserves little deferencéd:

V. ANALYSIS

The parties each seek summary judgment on Ms. Middlettaiias thaDCPS(1)
failedto design an appropriate IEP for A.T. in April 20{®) improperly changed A.T.’s
educational placememthen he entered high schp(8) failed to fully implement A.T.’s April
20151EP; (4) failed to appropriately address A.T.’s attendance isggganreasonably and
unlawfully conditioned the planned observation of Ms. Middlet@ducational advocate; and
(6) failed to provide A.T. an appropriate IEP in February 2016, all in violation of the ID¥SA.
explained below, the Couafyrees in large partbut not entirely—with Ms. Middleton’s
contentions that DCPS failed in a hottwaysto provide A.T. with a free appropriate public
education. Accordingly, the Court grants her motion in part and grants DCPS’s mqte |
and remands this matter to the hearing officer for further proceedings.

A. Appropriateness ofA.T.’s April 2015 IEP
Ms. Middletonfirst challenges the appropriateness of A.T.’s April 2015 Ed3erting

thatA.T. was denied a FAPBecausé¢he IEP(1) improperly placed him on tlteploma track
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and did so without consulting Ms. Middleton, {8atured acasmic goalaunsuitabldor A.T.,
and(3) included a posse®ndary transition plathatwasnot based on assessments of A.T.’s
abilities and that contained unduly vague goals. Thet@Gaguees with Ms. Middleton’s first two
contentions, but disagrees that A.T.’s post-secondary transition plan was so irededoiat
deny him a FAPE.
1. Diploma Track Placement
With regard to A.T.’s April 2015 IERVIs. Middleton protests thieearing officeis

conclusion that DCPS did not deny A.T. a FAPE when it placed him on the standard high school
diploma track rather than drackto receive a Certificate of IEP Completion and did so without
consulting his parent. Mem. of Points & Auth. Supp. of Pl.’'s Mom®&. J (“Pl.’s Mem.”) at
5-8, ECF No. 10-1As explained below, the Court finds that the decision to put A.T. on
diploma track constituted an educational placement. Furthermore, the Court concluthes tha
placement decision was defectiioe two distinct reasons{t) because DCPS significantly
impeded Ms. Middleton’s opportunity to participate in the decisionmakingepsand(2)
becaus@\.T.’s placement on the diploma track was not reasonably calculated to enable him to
make progresappropriaten light of hiscircumstancesAccordingly, the Court agrees with Ms.
Middletonthat theplacement denied A.T. a FAPE.

i. The Selection of a “Track” Constitutes an Educational Placement Under the IDE

As a threshold matter, the Court must address the apparent dispute between Ms.

Middleton on the one side and the hearing officer and DCPS on the other about whether the
decision to put a student on diploma track constitutes an educational placement undeAthe IDE
SeePl.’s Mem. at 5 (arguing that “diploma track was part of the placement degjdvterh. of

Points & Auth. Supp. of Def.’s Opp’n to Pl.’s Mot. Summ. J. & Cross-Mot. SummD&f.(§
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Mem.”) at 7—8 (suggesting that, under District of Columbia law, diploma track constitutes the
default placenent for all studenjsECF No. 12-1. This questionascritical one because, based
on the procedural safeguards of the IDEA, a school district offestmeaningful parental
participation and prior written notice whenever it initiatepiposes to change a child’s
educational placementee20 U.S.C. 8§ 1414ee als®4 C.F.R. 88 300.116(a), 300.327,
300.501(b), 300.503(a). Thus, if the selection of a “track” constitutes an educational ptaceme
under the IDEA, DCPS was obligated to, among other things, notify Ms. Middleton of the
proposedlacement angermit her to participate as a member of the group ultimately deciding
A.T.’s track and the failure to do so would batteast—a procedural violation of the IDEA.

Both the hearing officer and DCR8imatethat a student’s placement on diploma track
constitutessomething other thasan educational placement. The hearing officer determined that
the appropriateness of A.T.’s placement on the diploma track “c[ajme[] down tactrhbdt,
pursuant to [Districof Columbia regulations], the diploma track is default.” HOD, Admin. R. at
23. Specifically, the hearing officer identified three reasons for his conclusion: (1) because a
student “must be on diploma track unless specific action has been taken by teiant® shift
him to the certificate track,” (2) because some members of A.T.’s IEP téAlmoalson believed
that diploma track was appropriate for A.T. “despite his virtual inabilitgéol and write due to
his disabilities,” and (3) because Ms. Middleton took no action to shift A.T. to cesrifieak
after finding out his placement. HOD, Admin. R. at 23. In its briefing, DCPS eti®égaring
officer’s assertionsSeeDef.’s Mem. at 79; Def.’s Reply to Pl.’s Opp’n to Def.’s Cross-Mot.
Summ. J(“Def.’s Reply”) at 24, ECF No. 17. The Court disagrees.

Although the IDEA does not define “educational placement,” courts in thigligtremn

and others have defined the term “as meaning something ‘between the physicahtehdet
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by the chid andthe abstract goals ofchild’s IEP.” D.K., 983 F. Supp. 2d at 145 (quoting
Laster v. District of Columbia394 F. Supp. 2d 60, 64-65 (D.D.C. 2005)). As the Fourth Circuit
put it, an “educational placement’ fixes the overall instructional settindhinohwthe student
receives his education, rather than the precise location of that se#ivgex rel. Wilson v.
Fairfax Cty Sch. Bd.372 F.3d 674, 683 (4th Cir. 2004). Thus, while the “basic elements|s] of
the education program” constitute aspects of a student’s educational placaadhk ex rel.
Klein v. District of Columbia962 F. Supp. 2d 227, 232 (D.D.C. 2013), lesser parts of a student’s
programming are not regarded as placement decistes, e.gLunceford v. District of
Columbia Bd. of Educ745 F.2d 1577, 1582—-83 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (concluding that a change in a
student’s feeding treatment at a residential program did not suffice to consthaege in
educational placement). Likewise, a change in the location of a studenitesdoes not
constitute a change in educational placement if there is no difference in the é&malam
elements of the student’s programmirgge, e.gZ.B. by and through Sanchez v. District of
Columbig 292 F. Supp. 3d 300, 304-06 (D.D.C. 20®)ding no change in educational
placement where the services that the student would receive at a new school werey‘tasicall
same as those envisioned in his IEP and that he is currently receiMng.})983 F. Supp. 2d at
145 (explaining that there is no clge in educational placement “where a student is placed in a
new program where all the basic elements are fundamentally the same as the priamlacem
The Court agrees with Ms. Middleton’s suggestion that the decision whether to put a
student on diplma or certificate track constitutes an educational placement under the IDEA
because it undoubtedly shapes fundamental elements of the student’s programmnting. Firs
District of Columbia law establishes different academic requirements for diptaokeand

certificate track. To earn a high school diploma, a student must satisfactonipyete twenty
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four Carnegie units in certain subjegtisicluding Algebra 1, World History, and Biology—
courses in which A.T. was enrolled during his first year at WoodSeeD.C. Mun. Regs. tit. 5-
A, 8§ 2203.3 Testimony of Beth Sewell (“Sewell Tr.”),dinin. R. at 2059, ECF No. 8-13.
Though the teaching methods for a particular diploma-track course may be adjusteditta pe
student with disabilities to access courseanal, the student’s lessons are based on predefined
gradelevel curricular standards for the cour&eeHolman Tr., Admin. R. at 2109-1@arguing
that several diplom&ack courses could not la@propriatelynodified to enable A.T. to access
gradelevel course material)Testimony of Wendy Wakefield (“Wakefield Tr.”), Admin. R. at
1796-97, 1799-1800, ECF No. 8-10 (explaining what types of modifications are permitted for
diploma-track courses). To pass each diploma-track course students, includewitthos
disabilities, must demonstrate curriculum standard knowle8ge.id.By contrast, a Certificate
of IEP Completion may be awarded to a student with disabilities who has rddsgeleP goals
and who has completed high school coursework, but who has not met the requirements for a
standard high school diplom&ee id.In certificatetrack courses, when the nature of a student’s
disabilities do not enable him to make progress in the same curriculum as his nondisasled pe
a teacher can deviate fracarricular standards to meet the student’s unique negesid.

Second, the tracking decision shapes the courses selected for a student durihgrhis or
high school careeY.SeeTestimony of Tarisai Lumumbdmoja (“Lumumba-Umoja Tr.”),

Admin. R. at 1964 (“If the last page had identified certificate instead of dipllo@mahis cross-

3 A Carnegie unit is a unit of credit for course woBeeDouglass v. District of
Columbig 750 F. Supp. 2d 54, 57 n.3 (D.D.C. 2010).

4 The record does not reveal whether, as a matter of course, all dippbwkatudents are
enrolled in diploma-track courses. However, school officials suggested that Adrs&es had
been selected} &east in part, based on his placement on diploma tr&ek, e.g.Lumumba-
Umoja Tr., Admin. R. at 1964.
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scheduling would have been different.”), ECF No. 8-12. For example, at present, a student on
diploma track mussuccessfully complete Algebra 1, Geometry, Algebran2l an additional
Carnegieunit eligible mathematics course to complete his assigned program. By cantrast,
student on certificate track must receive four mathematics unit eredasnegie or not-by
completing “Concept of Mathematics” coursé&eeD.C. Pub. Schsls My Child on Track to
Graduate? https://dcps.dc.gov/page/neinld-track-graduat€listing the requirements for a
Certificate of IEPCompletion). Third, the diploma track requires a student to complete 100
hours of community service, while therticate track includes no comparable requiremeége
5-A D.C.M.R. § 2202.3; D.C. Pub. Schis.My Child on Track to Graduate?
https://dcps.dc.gov/page/nojnld-track-graduate. Because the track choice effectively
determines major aspects of a stutéehigh school programminga-fact that DCPS minimizes,
but does not disputethe Court agrees with Ms. Middleton that it constitutes part of the
student’s educational placement.

In suggesting otherwise, the hearing officer and DCPS rely on two provididnstrict
of Columbia law. The first specifies that certain coursework “shall be ezhafrstudents who
enroll in ninth (9" grade in school year 2007-2008 and thereafter in order to be certified as
eligible to receive a gh school diploma.” D.C. Mun. Regs. tit. 5-A, § 2203.1. The second
explains that “[a] student with special needs who does not achieve a diploma . . . sigibhlbe e
to receive an Individual Educational Program (IEP) Certificate of Cdmapfeand that “[t]he
decision to pursua program leading to an IEP Certificate of Completion shall be made by the
IEP team including the parent(s) and where possible, the studdn§2203.8. That provision
goes on to provide that the decision to pursue certificate track “shall be maddi@othan the

ninth (9" grade and shall be attached in writing to the student’s IER.DCPS and the
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hearing officer contend that these provisions require diploma track placemstidents with
disabilities unless a parent raises and argueseftificate track placement. On this view, the
diploma track may be selected as a default option for any and all students and, tiousg ibs
regarded as something other than an educational placement.

These contentions fail for four reasons. Farsd most critically, DCPS and the hearing
officer seem not to recognize that a default determination of the educational proggafior a
child with disabilities is antithetical to the letter and spirit of the IDEA. The IDE#essly
requires school districts to offer instructicspéciallydesigned to meet a childmiqueneeds
through an ‘{Individualizededucation program.Endrew F, 137 S. Ct. at 999 (internal
guotation marks omitted). Selection of programming by default does not, by anyrepgiathe
bill. District of Columbia regulations clarify that “[a]ll local education agen{li€sA) in the
District of Columbia shall ensurpursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act
(IDEA), that all children with disabilities . . . whoearesidents of the District of Columbia, have
available to them a free appropriate public education (FAPE) and that theofi¢/tse children
andtheir parents are protected.” D.C. Mun. Regs. tit. 5-E, § 3##alsad. § 3801.1(“The
Board of Eduation’s State Education Agenogsponsibilities shall include . . . [e]nsuring that all
local education agencies in the District of Columbia are in compliance wigrdkisions of the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).” Just as “theDEA should be liberally
applied and construed in favor of meeting its goals and providing appropriate angeffecti
education to children with disabilities,” this Court cannot adopt an interpretatiorstoicDof
Columbia law that would so undermine the requirements of the IDEe®. G ex rel. Ssgt RG v.
Fort Bragg Dependent Sch824 F.3d 240 (4th Cir. 2003) (“[F]ederal law establishes a

minimum ‘baseline’ of educational benefits that state must offer students withlitiesat); see
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alsoWildernessSoc. v. Morton479 F.2d 842, 881 (D.C. Cir. 1973) (“Courts should make every
effort to reconcile allegedly conflicting statutes and to give effedteddanguage and intent of
both, so long as doing so does not deprive one or the other of its esseahalgr).

Second, DCPS and the hearing officer seem to minimize the importance of the track
decision, chalking it up to a topic that an IEP Team might reasonably gloss ovemayttte
weightier issuesSeeHOD, Admin. R. at 11 (noting that, at an October 2015 meeting, there was
“no discussion about diploma versus certificate trgdR&f.’s Mem. at #8. But it appears to
this Court that few decisions are weightier than this one. The track decision-sifapess
dictates—other programming matters,cinding course selection, scheduling, and whether a
child’s teachers are permitted to deviate from predefined curricular standdedser DCPS nor
the hearing officer recorles the suggestion that an IEBam might select the diploma track by
default with the consequences facing a student based on the track sélection.

Third, the assertion that an IEP Team need only resolve the appropriateness okthe tra
decision if a parent independently raises and challenges the diploma &eekeht is contrary
to the requirements of the IDEA. The IDEA places afétive obligations on each school
district to design instruction to meet the child’s unique ne&gsEndrew F, 137 S. Ct. at 999.
This statutory duty does not vanish when a parent does not ff@isehool district’s
compliance. As the D.C. Circuit recently underscored.iB v. District of Columbia888 F.3d
515 (D.C. Cir. 2018), “merely reacting when parents complain is not enough” to satisfy the

IDEA. Id. at 524 (addressing DCPS'’s obligation to identify students who qualify for service

5> It bears mentioninghat the IEP form requirgbe selection o& “Projected Exit
Category=—high school diploma, high school certification prior to age 21, or high school
certificate at age 21. And the form features no apparent thumb on the scale fasledtigrsof
thediploma track.
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under the IDEA)see als@James v. District of Columhid94 F. Supp. 3d 131, 138 (D.D.C.
2016) (“School districts may not ignore disabled students’ needs, nor may thepawatal
demands before providing special education services.”). Resort to a purportet] dassal
solely on a lack of parental dissent, surely does not satisfy DCPS’s staluiyto design
instruction tailored to the child’s unique needs.

Finally, it seems to this Court that theaning officer and DCPS misapprehend the
purpose of the District of Columbia regulations on which they rely. The relevantipnsvése
not, this Court believes, intended to lower the threshold of protections afforded to chiltiren wi
disabilities under the IDEA by permittingggramming by default. Such a goal woudg bt the
very least, incompatible with other provisions of District of Columbia law thatresthat the
District’s local education agencigsact in compliance with the IDEASeeD.C. Mun. Regs. tit.
5-E, 8§ 3801.1(b)Rather, it seems to this Court that the applicable provisions reflect the District
of Columbia’s commitment to ensuring that no students with disabilities who ardecapab
pursuing a high school diploma are deemedgitdk on the sole basis that they have disabilities.
SeeD.C. Mun. Regs. tit. 5-A, § 23(Q8sting eligibility requirements for a high school diploma
and for an IEP Certificate of Completion). This mission is perfectly censigtith Congress’s
judgmentthat “the education of children with disabilities can be made more effective mghav
high expectations for such children” and with Congress’s goal of “ensurimgtoess to the
general education curriculum in the regular classroom, to the maximent gxissible, in order
to meet development goals and,te maximum extent possiblehallenging expectations that
have been established for all children.” 20 U.S.C. § 1400(c)(5). But responsible pursasit of thi
mission does not require—or, indeed, perntitat the District mindlessly place students in

programming that may be more rigorous than appropriate for a particular Susssats and
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capabilities. The acceptance of trany arguments would essentially shift special education in
this jurisdiction back to the days when “children with disabilities ‘were ettitally excluded
from schools or were sitting in regular classrooms awaiting the time whewéneyld enough
to drop out.” D.L. v. District of Columbig 860 F.3d 713, 717 (D.C. Cir. 2017), an outcome
untenable to Congress and to this Court.

In sum, the Court agrees with Ms. Middleton that the track decision constitutes an
educational placement subject to thegedural protections of the IDEA and not, as DCPS
asserts and the hearing officer assumed, a decision that may be made by default.

ii. A.T.'s Placement on Diploma Track Denied Him a FAPE

Having determined that the track decision constitutes an educational placée&uautt
next considers whether A.T.’s placement on the diploma track in his April 2015 IEP denied him
a FAPE. Ms. Middleton argues that A.T.’s diploma track placement denied him a FAREbe
(1) “DCPS checked the box ‘diploma track’ on his IEP at a meeting the parent had nedgew
of or involvement in,” and (2) based on the evidence before A.T.’s IEP Team at Sousa—
evidence that A.T. had significant cognitive deficits and had failed to make magwesd his
IEP goals—it was entirely ureasonable to believe that A.T. could receive meaningful
educational benefit on the diploma track. Pl.’s Mem. at 5—-8. DCPS disagrees, argtiing t
several Woodson teachers and school officials believed that A.T. was capaltergf adigh
school diploma. Def.’s Mem at 8. Notably, the hearing officer found no denial oP& FA
based on A.T.’s diploma track placement, but declined to determine which track bé&ttr sui
A.T. and ordered Woodson school officials to meet with Ms. Middleton to discupkat®nent
decision. SeeHOD, Admin. R. at 23—-24. The Court agrees with both of Ms. Middleton’s
arguments-DCPS denied A.T. a FAPE by significantly impeding Ms. Middleton’s opportunity

to participate in the decisionmaking process regarding the provision of a FAPE tddhandhi
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also by selecting an educational placement that was not reasoaktbilated to enable him to
make progress appropriate in light of his circumstances.

First, the Court finds that, contrary to the hearing officer’s concluswinieh, as
explained above, was based on a misunderstanding about the nature of the placenmnt-decis
DCPS violated the procedural requirements of the IDEA by failing to afford Midl&ton an
opportunity to participate in the process of determining A.Taskiiplacement. The IDEA
requires that school districts offer “[a]n opportunity for the parents of d witih a disability . . .
to participate in meetings with respect to the educational placement of the child.” 20 U.S.C.
1415(b)(1). The statatfurther mandates that “whenever the local educational agency
proposes to initiate or change the educational placement of the child,” a parent must be sent
prior written notice, which must feature, among other things, a description of the gtopose
action, a description of other options considered by the IEP Team, and some explanatiypn of w
the other options were rejecteldl. 8§ 1415(b)(3), (c)(1). The intent of prior written notice is to
“provide sufficient information to protect the parémights under the Act” and to “enable the
parents to make an informed decision whether to challenge the DCPS’s detemand to
prepare for meaningful participation in the due process hearing on their chdlldatienv.
District of Columbig 968 F. Supp. 203, 213 (D.D.C. 2013) (quotirgot v. District of
Columbig 800 F. Supp. 976, 982 (D.D.C. 1992)). Because, as explained above, the track
decision constituted an educational placement, DCPS was required to comply with the
procedural safeguards related to the making of such a decision.

The record offers no indication that Ms. Middleton received prior written notice of the
placement decision or any opportunity to meaningfully participate in the placdemsion.

Indeed, DCPS does not contest Ms. Middleton’s contention that she had no opportunity to
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participate ir—and had no prior knowledge of—the April 2015 IEP meeting during which A.T.’s
IEP Team placed him on diploma track and no knowledge of A.T.’s diploma track placement
until months aftertte decision had been madsgeePl.’s Mem. at 5seealsoDef.’s Mem. at 7#9.
DCPS appears to argue that its IDEA obligations were, in any event, mesd¢talys.
Middleton was belatedly notified of A.T.’s diploma track placement during an Q226US&I1EP
meeting and she failed to raise any objection to the placement at that time, @iie1(2)
members of A.T.’s IEP Team believed that the diploma track placement wagpagier for A.T.
SeeDef.’'s Mem. at3—9. Neither rationale suffices to satisfy DCPS’s procedural obligations
under the IDEA.

The Court need not spill much ink rejecting DCPS’s first argument. DCPS’sitidtig
to provide prior written notice of a proposed educational placement and an opportunity for a
parent to participate in the educational placement decision surely are not aneddpye, post-
decisional mention that some placement decision has been mhadee is no indication that
during the October 2015 IEP meeting, DCP&ldisecany of the information required by 20
U.S.C. § 1415(c)(1), let alone that during that meeting Ms. Middleton was afforded an
opportunity to participate in the decisionmaking proc€dsmparelalloh exrel. R.H.v. District
of Columbig 535 F. Supp. 2d 13, 24 (D.D.C. 2008) (concluding that a placement decision was
appropriate even though the required information was not set fgtioimwritten notice
because all athe required informatiowaselicited at an IEP meeting that was attended by the
parent). And the record does not show that at any time prior to Ms. Middleton’s filirduef a
process complaint, DCPS ever provided any basis for its placement decisioxplanaton of
the differences between diploma track and certificate track, any notwinyodiploma track

might meet A.T.’s individual needs, or any notice to Ms. Middleton of her right toipatean
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the decisionmaking procesSee34 C.F.R. § 300.503(a) (describing the notice requirement).
Indeed, DCPS thwarted Ms. Middleton’s attempts at securing information ablaig A
placement and the courses in which he was enrolled when it repeatedly failed to respond t
pointed emails from Ms. Middleton’s negsentatives.

The onus is on DCPS to reveal information relevant to a proposed placement. A parent
need not raise and object to an alreathde placement decision to secure an opportunity to
participate in the decisionmaking proceSee20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(3%f. Z.B, 888 F.3d at 524
(“[M]erely reacting when parents complain is not egl.”); M.C. exrel. J.C.v. Cent.Regional
Sch.Dist., 81 F.3d 389, 397 (3d Cir. 1996) (“[A] child’s entitlement to special education should
not depend upon the vigilance of the parents (who may not be suffigepttysticatedo
comprehend the problem) nor be abridged because the district’'s behavior did nohedeelt
of slothfulness or bad faith.”) The Court rejects DCPS’s argument that ang, \agsory, and
belated notice offered to Ms. Middleton satisfied the applicable procedguaements.

As for DCPS’s second argument, the Court finds unavailing the contention that other
members of A.T.’s IEP Team believed that A.T. was adequately suited foptbmditrack.

While the IDEA does not require that a parent ultimately agree with am&at decision, the
Act does guarantee the parents of children with disabilities an opportunityitipadetin the
placement processSee20 U.S.C. § 1414(byf., e.g, Paolellaexrel. Paolellav. District of
Columbig 210 F. App’x 1, 1 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (concluding that parents had a meaningful
opportunity to participate in the placement process, ththeparents ultimately disagreed with

the placement decisiorftoldzclawv. District of Columbig 524 F. Supp. 2d 43, 47 (D.D.C.
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2007). The views of other members of the IEP Team certainly do not satisfy theocaltioved
procedural requiremens.

The failure to include Ms. Middleton in the placement decision is a proceduralonolat
of the IDEA. But, as the Court explained above, procedural violations do not inescapalaly lea
court to conclude that a school district deraschild a FAPE. Rather, “an IDEA claim is viable
only if those procedural violations affected the student’s substantive rigtesésnex rel. B.F.

v. District of Columbia447 F.3d 828, 834 (D.C. Cir. 2006). And substantive harm occurs only
if the preponderance of the evidence establishes that the procedural inadegu@gmegeded

the child’s right to a FAPE; (ii) significantly impeded the pareapportunity to participate in

the decisionmaking process regarding the provision of a FAPE to the parent’s cfiiig; or
caused the deprivation of the educational benefit.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.513.

Here, the procedural inadequacies, at the very leasificzagnly impeded Ms.

Middleton’s opportunity to participate in the decisionmaking process regarding thagiafia
FAPE to A.T., thereby denying him a FAPE. Sousa school officials placed A.T. diplbea
track without notifying Ms. Middleton or her educational advocate, without seeking Ms.
Middleton’s input on the placement decision, and, apparently, without explaining how that

decision would affect A.T.’s high school programming and experience. Then, Woodson school

® The record shows that some Woodson teachers had the impression that Ms. Middleton
wanted A.T. placed on the diploma trackeeSewell Tr., Admin. R. at 2056-57 (suggesting that
there appeared to be a disagreement between Ms. Middleton and Dr. Holman regarding the
appropriate track placement). However, the record is ambiguous at bestgstihe weachers
had such an impressiokeeTestimony of Renee Middleton (“Middleton Tr.”), Admin. R. at
2079 (asserting that she did not suggest to Woodson school officials and teachersibateshe
A.T. on diploma track), ECF No. 8-13. And, in any event, assuming that Ms. Middleton had
referenced a vague desire that $mm complete a high school diploma during an informal
conversation or two, this alone would not suffice to meet the DCPS’s procedural obBgati
under the IDEA.
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officials neglected to answeven basic questions about A§ placementintil weeks after he

had begun high school. And the record reveasdhien the belated communicati@mout

A.T.’s trackplacement werperfunctory at best. The preponderance of the evidence shows that
DCPS'’s decision to place A.T. on the diploma track without affording his mother an opportunity
to participate in the decisionmaking process denied him a FAPE.

In any event, putting procedural inadequacies to the side, the April 2015 diploma track
placement decision denied A.T. a FAPE for another redsaas not rasonably calculated to
enable A.Tto receive educational benefit. EBmdrew F, the Supreme Court explained that “[t]o
meetits substantive obligain under the IDEA, a school must offer an IEP reasonably calculated
to enable a child to make progress appropriate in light of the child’s circunstad8y S. Ct.
at 999. In evaluating an IEP, a court must determine “whether, taking account ¢fieveahool
knew or reasonably should have known of the student’s needs at the time, the IEP it @ftered w
reasonably calculated to enable the specific student’s progié$s,'888 F.3d at 524. Notably,
“that standard calls for evaluating an IEP as of ‘the time each IEP was tratliedthan with
the benefit of hindsight,id. (quotingEndrew F, 202 F. Supp. 3d at 75-76), though “evidence
that ‘postdates’the creation of the IEP is relevant to the inquiry to whatever extent it bletls
‘on whetherthe IEP was objectively reasonable at the time it was promulgatied.(tjuoting
Endrew F, 202 F. Supp. 3d at 76 n.23)).

As the Court noted above, the record is ttase features no eviderregarding what was
discussed at the April 2015 IEP meeting during which A.T. was placed on the diploka tra
Neither Ms. Middleton nor her educational advocate attendedrjtatthe time it took place,
even knew that it had occurred. No witness whtfiied at the due process hearing in this

matterhadattended it éher. The hearing officer heard no testimony from any Sousa school
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teacher or official involved in makingny decisiorabout A.T.’s high schogllacement.And

DCPS itself seems wontend that Woodson school officials had no occasion to reconsider the
diploma track placememade at Soudaecause Ms. Middleton esgssed ne@xplicit
discontentmentvith it. Thus, the Court looks primarily tbe face of the IEP to determiite
appropriateness.

For two reasons, the Court concludes that the diploma track placement was not
reasonably calculated to enable A.T. to make progress appropriate in lightotbhmstances.
First, as Ms. Middleton notes, A.T.’s April 2015 IERsdebed his severaliitations, and the
Court strains to imagine how, given those limitations, A.T. could podsébBxpected to
progress in the standard high school curriculum that is apparently used to evalciate spe
education students who are on the diploma tr&deWakefield Tr., Admin. R. at 1796-97,
1799-1800 (explaining the standards applied in dipltaek, special education courses).
According to A.T.’s IEP, in mathematics, he scored in the “very lowg’aog several
assessments. 4/2415 IEP,Admin. R. at 345. While he could add multi-digit whole numbers
and could subtract single digit whole numbers, he could not multiply multi-digit witiohoers
or divide even single digit numbers. 4/24/2015 IEP, Admin. R. at Bé5wvas unble to
compute with fractions. 4/24/2015 IEP, Admin. R. at 345. In reading, A.T. had receivesl score
in the “very low range.” 4/22015 IEP Admin. R. at 347. He was found able to understand
pictures, but unable to comprehend even simple sesst@md paragraphs. 4/2015 IEP,

Admin. R. at 347. In writing, A.T. could write his name, but not his birth date, address, or
relatives’ name. 4/22015 IEP Admin. R. at 348. He had received a score of 0 on a writing
fluency test; on a spelling assessment, he was able to write upper archienetters but was

unable to spell any words. 4/2815 IEP Admin. R. at 349. His scores on cognitive
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assessments had revealed low cognitive functioning. 4/25/2015 IEP, Admin. R. at 349. A.T.’s
sole area of notable strgiih: his nearly age-appropriate (to wit, “good”) conversation and
nonvebal communications skills, 4/22015 IEP, Admin. R. at 350€apabilities that this Court
speculates might have masked his many weaknesses to those unfamiliar withrthefrias
disabilities.

Second, the face of the April 2015 IEP appears to note that A.T. could not access the
gradelevel general education curriculum in mathematics, reading, and wriling.IEP states
no fewer than three times that A.T.’s deficipgéventhim frombeing able to access the general
education curriculum at thé"grade level’—notably, not even A.T.’s then- or future grade-
level—in reading, writing, and mathematics. Instead, it explains that A.T. “requoefdfant
assistance, significant modifieans and differentiation to accessrriculumthatis significantly
belowgradelevel” 4/24/2015 IEP, at Admin. R. 345, 347, 349. These conclusions undermine
the District’s position that the diplonteack placemenrt-a placement that would require A.T. to
meet predefined gradevel curricular standards—was reasonably calculated to enable him to
receive educational benefits.

DCPS tells this Court, as it told the hearing officer, that despite A.T.’s limitations
including his virtual inability to read andrite due to his disabilities-A.T. was capable of
earning a high school diplom&eeDef.’s Mem. at 8. DCPS relies on the testimony of
Woodson'’s special education coordinator, who testified that she believed that A.Tpalle ca
of getting a high schoaliploma if he applied himself. Def.’s Mem. at 8. DCPS also cites the
testimony of Woodson’s school psychologist, who remarked that staying on dipémkavould
help A.T.’s selfesteem and apparent anxiety, and would make him feel “successful.” Def.’s

Mem. at 89. Finally, DCPS mentions the testimony of A.T.’s Algebra 1 teacher at Woodson,
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who remarked that she believed that A.T. could earn Carnegie units toward a high school
diploma. Defs Mem. at 9.

None of this testimonry-which consists of retrospective evidence of A.T.’s purported
progress on the diploma track while at Woodson—sheds light on whether A.T.’s placement was
designed to serve his needs at the time the placement was made. These witnesses
developed their respective impressions of A.T.’s capabilities based on expeneticA.T.
after he had started at Woodson, evidence unavailable to any decisionmaker who put him on the
diploma track. More importantly, though, the testimony of these Woodson school o#imihls
teachers appears tagtCourt to be largely unmoored from any tangible performance metric or
any evidence of A.T.’s needs. For example, DCPS makes much of A.T.’s Algtdaeher’s
testimony. But, in fact, her testimony regarding whether A.T. was capbabsening Carnegie
units toward a diploma was limited to math courses only, and she added a caveat that A.T.
“teacher[s] would have to, you know, be able to work with him and meet him where he’s at.”
Wakefield Tr., Admin. R. at 177Z-urthermore, the teacher revealedttbhe had not been privy
to information about the nature and extend of A.T.’s low cognitive functioning and his
difficulties with memory retentionSeeWakefield Tr., Admin. R. at 1780-81. Likewise,
testimony that a diploma track placement would makié feel “successful” and bolster his self
esteem is evidence far too thin to support such a crucial decision, especiahy of ¥he
statements on his IEP that suggest that he could not progress on such a path.

In sum, the Court agrees with Ms. Middletbatthe preponderance of the evidence
available at the time th&t. T. was placed on the diploma track shows that the placement was not
reasonably calculated to enable hinmtake progress appropriate in light of his circumstances.

Accordingly, the Court concludes that the placement decision denied A.T. a FAPE.
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2. Annual Goals

Next,Ms. Middleton argues that the annual goals listed on A.T.’s April 2015 IEP were
inadequate and inappropriate because they were liokssl/enth grade common core
standard—notably, not even A.T.’s gradevel—andtheywerenot based on his individual
needs.SeePl.’s Mem. at 810. DCPS maintains thtite use of common core standards was
appropriate.SeeDef.’s Mem. at 1813. Thehearing officer found no violation oféHDEA,
observing that “[a]s long as [A.T.] is on the diploma track the appropriatenetpoint for his
goals are the common core standards as modified and tailored to take into acchbisijt [A
abilities”” HOD, Admin. R. at 24.Having already concluded that the placenuattision was
inappropriate, this Court also agrees with Ms. Middletonttieassociated goals were
inappropriate for A.T.’s level of skill and ability and his needsthatithe decision to utilize
them was not reasongttalculated to enable him to make progress appropriate in light of his
circumstances.

An IEP must includéa statement of measurable annual goals, including academic and
functional goals. 20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A). The goaee “designedo meet the child’s needs
that result from the child’s disability to enable the child to be involved in and makegsag
the general education curriculum” and to “meet each of the child’s other educaticisathege
result from the child’s disability. Id. Like other aspects of an IEP, annual goals are suitable if
they are “reasonably calculated to enable [the] child to make progrespragero light of the

child’s circumstances.’Endrew F, 137 S. Ct. at 999. An “IEP need not aim for grisle!

’ The Court owes no deference to the hearing officer’s contrary conclusion about the
adequacy of A.T.’s IEP goals. The hearing officer based his conclusion on a mistadetntel
A.T.’s diploma track placement was appropriate, reasoning that goalsisigifinom the
diploma track placement must also be appropriate. But, as the Court explained abdeti
the hearing officer reached an incorrect conclusion on the dipi@olaplacement issue.
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advancement,” if inappropriate given the specific needs of the child, but a ¢addsational
program must be appropriately ambitious in light of his circumstand¢ésdt 1001.In

reviewing the substantive adequacy of IEP goals, a court “must@aie that the question is
whether the IEP iseasonablenot whether the court regards it as ideddl” at 999. And a court
may not “substitute [its] own notions of sound educational policy for those of the school
authorities which they review.Id. at 1001 (quotingRowley 458 U.S. at 206kee alsdixon v.
District of Columbia 83 F. Supp. 3d 223, 233 (D.D.C. 2015) (“The sufficiency of goals and
strategies in an IEP is precisely the type of issue upon which the i&fthéres deference to the
expetise of the administrative officers.” (alteration omitted) (quotsrgn v. Rhinebeck Cent.
Sch. Dist. 346 F.3d 377, 382 (2d Cir. 2003)plowever,havingrespect for the expertise of
school officials does not require a court to endorse conclusions about the adequdagafitess
goals that are not supported by the record.

Ms. Middleton contends that A.T.’s mathematics, reading, and writing goals do not
satisfy the standards set forth in the IDE®pecifically,Ms. Middletonargueghat A.T.’s
mathematicgoals—(1) to determinethe difference between sales tax and discounts in order to
solve word problems that were read to him @)do analyze a set of data to find the mean,
median, and mode and to create a graphic representation of thengata“well above his
understanishg [and were] not reasonably calculated to address [his] need for significant
remediation in mathematics in addition to learning functional mathematics like countigy mo
and telling time.” Pl.'s Mem. &8. A.T.’s reading goals were to identify the chronological
sequence of plot in a story read aloud to him and, with text read aloud to him and withaignifi
prompting, to identify the key details of an informational text as they relate to thedea.

Ms. Middletonconplains that “[ijnstead of having goals based on the student’s need to learn
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sight words, decoding and blending, the IEP focuse[djamtepts that are abstract, and not
necessary or appropriate for a meader. Pl.’'s Mem. at 9. FinallyA.T.’s writing goal was to
“respond to a text dependent question in written format and employ the requirementsrigr

a sentence by using correct spelling, punctuation, grammar, and mechdrmeég¢2015 IEP,

Admin. R. at 349. According to Ms. Middleton, this goal was inappropriate because A.T. could
not read at all at the time that the IEP was created. Pl.’'s Mem. at 9.

DCPSdefends the goals featured on A.T.’s IEP, contending that, though lofty, A.T.’s
goals were reasonably calculated to enable him to makeggsogppropriate in light of his
circumstancesSeeDef.’s Mem. at 1613. In pstifying A.T.’s mathematics goal®CPS cites
testimony from A.T.’s Algebra 1 teacher regardimgdificationsand accommodations that she
used to teach him. Def.’s Mem. at 10. With regard to A.T.’s reading and writing DS
asserts—without any elaboration-that “[c]learly, the IEP team considered A.T.’s reading
deficits when writing his reading goals” and that “[a]gain, the IERtescognized A.T.’s
writing deficits andhe lone goal addresses those deficits.” Bdflem.at 11. The Court agrees
with Ms. Middletonthat A.T.’s IEPgoals were not reasonably calculated to enabledimake
progress appropriate in light of his circumstances.

The record lays bare A.T.'sgsiificant deficits in mathematics, reading, and writing. As
recounted in detail above, A.T. could not read, could barely write, and could perform only basic
mathematics. And yet, DCPS failed to in any way remediate these issuesariptegxnstead
of placing A.T. in a reading program and setting goals related to those deficits,as. T. w
expected to work toward “identify[ing] the chronological sequence of a plottararl story.”
4/24/2015 IEP, Admin. R. at 347. Instead of learning to write his birth date or his addiess o

write a full sentence-deficits specifically identifiedn his IEP—A.T. was expected to work
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toward “respond[ing] to a text dependent question in written formlaie “employ[ing] the
requirements for writing a sentence tsng correct spelling, punctuation, grammar and
mechanics.”4/24/2015 IEP, Admin. R. at 349. And, instead of learnindj\umle single digits

or compute fractions, A.T. was expected to work toward “determin[ing] the differgetween

sales tax and disaats in order to solve word problems.” 4/24/2015 IEP, Admin. R. at 346. The
Court need not—and does nasubstitute its own judgment about educational policy to identify
the several inadequacigsA.T.’s goals. DCPS’s bald assertions to the contrary are wholly
unpersuasive.

TheIDEA requires that schodlistricts ensure that students with disabilities have the
chance to meet challengingjectives. Endrew F, 137 S. Ct. at 1000. But, here, DCPS
mistakes goals Héuited for a student’s needs and circumstances and unmoored from evidence
regardingthe student’s past performance for “lofty” goals. The Court agrees with Mdldibn
that DCPS failed to design appropriate goals given A.T.’s needs and circuesstéhereby
violating the IDEA and denyingitm a FAPE.

3. Post-Secondary Transition Plan

Ms. Middletonnextargues that DCPS violated tHgEA by failing to include an
appropriate transition plan for A.T. in his April 2015 IE®pecifically, Ms. Middleton asserts
that DCPS neglected to conducs@ssments necessary to determine A.T.’s skills, abilities, and
weaknesses, and relied only on assessments of his interests to createitios fotars Pl.’s
Mem. at 1611, 13-14; Pl.’s Reply to Def.’s Opp’n to Pl.’s Cross-Mot. Summ. J. (“Pl.’s Reply”)
at 15-16, ECF No. 15. The result, Ms. Middleton claims, is that A.T.’s transition plan included
goals unrealistic for his abilities. Ms. Middleton also contends that the ibangidn contained

unduly vague goalsSeePl.’s Mem. at 10-11, 13-14; PIReply at 1516. The Court
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concludes thathe preponderance of evidence on record shows that the transition plan was age
appropriate and that the gofdsaituredn the plan were not vague. Accordingly, the Court finds
no violation of the IDEA with regard to DCPS’s design of A.T.’s April 2015 IEP ttamsplan.

The IDEA mandates that every IEP, beginning no later than the firsh Effect when a
child is sixteen years old, must include “appropriate measurable postsecgodisripased on
age appropriate transition assessments related to training, education,nreemp)@and where
appropriate, independent living skills.” 20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIMyansition services
mustalsobe “based on the individual child’s needs, taking into account the child’s strengths,
preferences, and interest Id. 8 1401(34)(B).The record showthat the District administered
two assessmen(the “Student Dream Sheet” and “Career Clueless Career Inventoryhich
it based A.T.’s April 2015 transition plarsee Admin. R. at 359, 1868-70; Def.’s Mem. at 14;
PI's Mem. at 10PI.’s Reply at 11-12. According to the testimony of Christopher Nace, a
Program Manager of Secondary Transition for DGR&,‘Career Clueless Career Inventory” is
a “middle school specifiassessment that's used nationwide as a middle school assgsantent
the “Student Dream Sheet” is “essentially an interview sheet” that is “use[atjddie school
just because it's a great starting point” ahds age appropriate questions.” Testimohy
Christopher Nace (“Nace Tr.”), Admin. R. at 1868, ECF No. 8Mit. Nace testified that, as a
matter of coursahe District emphasizes career exploration for middle school students, and does
notgenerally focu®n whether a student’s interests ahgth the student’s capabilities. Nace
Tr., Admin. R. at 1873. The middle school years, Mr. Nace explainedften the first
moments during whicktudents are exposed to caregploration, and DCPS hé&s number of
years to make sure that we're expigrand finding a career that the student is both interested in

and meets their abilitieend limitations.” Nace Tr., Admin. R. at 1873. According to Mr. Nace,
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this period of exploration is particularly important for students with disakiktieo “tend to be
placed into careers that are not in their interest” and who instead “are plaagders based on
what other people think they are capable of doing.” Nace Tr., Admin. R. at P8ngarily
based on this testimonyhich the hearing officer deemé&aighly credible,”the IHO concluded
thatA.T.’s postsecondaryransition plan was based on ag@propriate assessmentsOD,
Admin. R. at 24.

Mr. Nace opined that the assessments conducted to develop A.T.’s transition plan were
appropriate fomiddleschool students. It seems that this conclusion applied equally to a student
like A.T who was evaluated in eighth grade in order to craft a plan to be implementeghisir
ninth-grade year SeeNace Tr, Admin. R. at 1887-88. Ms. Middleton obviously disagrees with
the expert testimomyand the hearing officer’s conclusiefthat“age appropriatéransition
assessmefd]” for a middle school student moving on to high school need not include skills
assessments designedshow a child his capdbies, strengths, and weaknesseseHOD,

Admin. R. at 24. This does not, however, suffice as a basis for disrupting the heacegsoffi
reasoned decision. The hearing officer’s conclusions that the assessmenteveggrapriate
and that they supipd sufficient bases upon which to design A.T.’s transition plan are fully and
fairly supported by the record. The District was not required to conduct aseessit@e sort
thatMs. Middleton preferred to meet its obligations under the IDEA.

As for Ms. Middleton’s argument that A.T.’s transition plan was “lacking in substance,
clarity, or specificity,” Pl.’s Mem. at 10, the Court finds that Ms. Middleton h#esd to identify
any procedural or substantive inadequacy in the plan. As Mr. Nace testified,tfaisision
plan included broad, long-term post-secondary education and employment gpadsfically,

to “attend a job training program for a job of his choice” and “to be employed” upon gjeadua
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from high school.SeelEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 359-60. But the p#dso included specific
shortterm goals. For exampla prepare A.T. for post-secondary education and training, the
IEP stated that, within the year, A.T. would use the internet to identify foerehiff locations in
the D.C. Metropolitan Area that offer information on jadurting programs. He was toap out
how and when he would visit each location aras$ topresent a plan to his case manadé&P
4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 360. And to prepare A.T. for post-secondary employment, the plan
specified that he would identify four traits consistent with individuals who aptoged in a 9-5
career, and he would document the knowledge, skills, and abilities necessarydshagessful
career in a-95 position. IEP 4/24/2015, Admin. R. at 360. Afterward, he would present his
findings to his case manager. Ms. Middleton provides no basis on which the Court could disrupt
the hearing officer's conclusion that DCPS devised “measurable postaegcgodls,” ashe
IDEA requires In sum, Ms. Middleton has not shown that A.T.’s postsecondary goals and
transitions services were inappropriate or that DCPS did not comply with BfeiiCcrafting
the plan.

-

With respect to A.T.’s April 2015 IEP, the Court concludes that DCPS violated E#e ID
and denied A.T. a FAPE when it placed A.T. on the diploma track and when it designed IEP
goals that were based on grddeel curriculum standards and not on A.T.’s needs and
capabilities However, the evidence on record shows that A.T.’s April 2015 transition plan
satisfied the requirements of the IDEA.

B. Change inPlacement
Before the hearing officer, Ms. Middleton argued that DCPS had inappropchteiged

A.T.’s placement from a setfontained program at Sousa to a much larger envirorament
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Woodson where he was expected to handle transitions and lunch on hiSesih.’s Mem. at
16-22. The hearing officer agreedoncluding that A.T.’s placement had changed based on his
shift from a selcontained progranwhere the entire class wed together throughout the day, to
a setting where he “had to find his way in a much larger environment and waseedgoehandle
transitions and lunch on his ownHOD, Admin.R. at 26. The hearing officdetermined that
DCPS had denied A.T. a FAPE by excluding Ms. Middleton from the placement determination.
HOD, Admin.R. at 26—27. Howevethe hearing officeexplained that, while A.T. faced
“serious challenges . . . in coming into a much bigger school with much less support,” “on
balance”A.T.’s placementn theSpecific Learning Support (“SLS”) prograa Woodson was
reasonably calculated to enable A.T. to receive educatenafit and, thus, was appropriate.
HOD, Admin.R. at 26-27. Specifically, the hearing officer observed that A.T.’s IEP was
implemented in small special education clagsesthat in the new placement A.T. was “able to
experience more independence, matore decisions for himself, and have more autonomy.”
HOD, Admin.R. at 27. Ms. Middleton challenges the determination that A.T.’s placement was
appropriate.SeePl.’s Mem. at 16—-20; Pl.’s Reply at 27-31. The Court finds that the
preponderance of the evidence supports Ms. Middleton’s contentions. éhdiige in
placement was not reasonably calculated to enable him to receive educational benefit

The IDEA requires school districts to offer placement in a school and in progrgmm
that can fulfill he requirements set forth in the student’s IERPO.ex rel. Pabo v. District of
Columbig 573 F. Supp. 2d 41, 53 (D.D.C. 2008) state satisfies this requirement if a
placement can provide “personalized instruction with sufficient sugporices to ermit the
child to benefit educationally from that instructiorRowley 458 U.S. at 203. “[C]ourts have

identified a set of considerations ‘relevant’ to determining whether ylartplacement is
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appropriate for a particular student, including the nature and severity of thetstuligability,
the student’s specialized educational needs, the link between those needs anatéseastared
by theschool, . . . and the extent to which the placement represents the least restrictive
educational environment.Branham ex rel. Branham Gov't of the D.C,. 427 F.3d 7, 13 (D.C.
Cir. 2005). A school district need only demonstrate that the student’s placement was
appropriate; a placement need not satisfy a parent’s every desire and need resttriqa dest
possible programming for the studeeeKerkam v. McKenzje862 F.2d 884, 886 (D.C. Cir.
1988) (“[P]roof that loving parents can craft a better program than a state dffes not, alone,
entitle them to prevail under the Agt.Holland v. Distri¢ of Columbia 71 F.3d 417, 419 (D.C.
Cir. 1995) (The IDEA “does not necessarily guarantee the child [with a diggihie best
available education.”).

The Court agrees that the record supports Ms. Middleton’s contention that A.T.’s
problem begnwith—and stemmed at least in part ferrhis change in placement from a small
self-contained class at Sousa to a larger environment where he would have to independently
navigate transitions. FirdDCPS apparently placed A.T. in the SLS program at Woodson based
on his placement on the diploma track—a decision that the Court already explainest was
reasonably calculated to confer educational benefimumba-Umoja Tr., Admin. R. at 1966
(“[T]he SLS program is for students . . . who are on a diploma track or have a high leved of ne
on their IEP.”),2015 (identifying programming for certificate track studen8gcond, A.T.’s
attendance record, which revealed 57 absences for the year, buttressedditoMs claim.
Indeed, a functional behavior assessment conducted toward the end of A.T.graddlyear
noted that A.T. was “more likely to engage in thetakefesistant behaviors when he d[id] not

understand an assignment, when he d[id] not have a relaponghithe staff or if there [were]
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too many students in the class.” Admin. R. at 536. Third, though DCPS asserts that A.T.
eventually adapted to Woodson, the record contains only scant evidence supporting this
assertion. True enough, some of A.T.’s teachers and other school officials béievedt had
adapted to the school environment. But that conclusion seems to fly in the face ofesth@énc
A.T. constantly missed classes, roamed the hallways, avoided the lunchroom, andy on man
occasions disengaged in the classroom. The Court need not—and likely couttisemitangle
which of the lapses in A.T.’s educational programming resulted from the diplaoka tr
placement and which resulted from his placement in the SLS program at Woodsdificdsto
conclude that A.T.’s placement in the SLS program at Woodsotle€ision apparently made
“downtown” rather than by A.T.’s IEP Team—was not reasonable calculated te émaltio
progressappropriatan light of his circumstances.
C. Implementation of the April 2015 IEP

Ms. Middletonnextchallenges the implementation of A.T.’s April 2015 IEP. Namely,
she argues that DCPS denied A.T. a FAPE by failing to provide all of hissctagséle of the
general education setting in conformity with his IEReePl.’s Mem. at 22—-27; Pl.’s Reply at
19-26. On this issue, the hearing officer agreed that DCPS had varied from A.fies &P
in certain respects. However, the hearing officer found these variangcede minimis HOD,
Admin. R. at 28-29. The Coudtsagrees with the hearing offiteassessment and finds that
DCPS denied A.T. a FAPE by failing to properly implemerg éispect of his IEP.

A school district “must ensure that . . . special education and related serviceglare m
available to the child in accordance with the chil&B.” 34 C.F.R. 8§ 300.323(@). A material
failure to implement a student’s IEP constitutes a denial of a FABEnson v. District of

Columbig 962 F. Supp. 2d 263, 268—69 (D.D.C. 2013). To meet its burden, the moving party
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“must demonstrate that tlsehool board or other authorities failed to implement substantial or
significant provisions of the IEP.Beckwith v. District of Columbj&08 F. Supp. 3d 34, 49
(D.D.C. 2016) (quotingdous. Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Bobby R00 F.3d 341, 349 (5th Cir. 2000
“Generally, in analyzing whether a student was deprived of an educationat,beoefts . . .
have focused on the proportion of services mandated to those actually provided, and the goal and
import (as articulated in the IEP) of the specific service that was withhdtt.(quotingWilson
v. District of Columbia770 F. Supp. 2d 270, 275 (D.D.C. 2011)).

A.T.’s April 2015 IEP called for 27 hours of specialized instruction per week. 4/24/2015
IEP,Admin. R. at 353. The parties apparently agree that this IEP called for A. Ve@lhaf
his classes outside of the general education setBegHOD, Admin. R. at 28; Pl.'s Mem. at
23; Def.’s Mem. at 23. Notwithstanding this requirement, A.T. was enrolled ingarezal
education or inclusion akses-World History (a twenty-five student inclusion class), Music (a
general education class), aAldysical Education (a general education claSe€eHOD, Admin.
R. at 28. The hearing officer found that Woodson sufficiently satisfied the [BResject to
A.T.’s World History course because he was periodicH|yaratethto a smaller goup for
specialized instruction. HOD, Admin. R. at 28. Howetee hearing officer deemedT.’s
Physical Education course setting “clearly improper,” and his Music coettsegs‘likely
improper,” despite some testimony that a paraprofessworided with A.T. and a small group
of students in that clas$iOD, Admin. R. at 28—29 As the vast majority of A.T.’s courses were
in the special education setting, as required by the IEP, the he#raey found no IDEA
violation. SeeHOD, Admin. R. at 29.

The Court disagrees with the hearing officer’s conclusfourts in this jurisdiction

have deemed deviations from an IEP immateriagnelithe student receivedly slightly fewer
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hours of instructional time thasalled for in an IEP See, e.g.Johnson v. District of Columhia
962 F. Supp. 2d 263, 269 (D.D.C. 2013) (three hour discrepancy between the instructional hours
called for in the student’s IEP and the hours actually received did not constituter@lnfailure
to implement the IEP)Savoyex rel. T.W\v. District of Columbia844 F. Supp. 2d 23, 33-35
(D.D.C. 2012) (discrepancy of less than an hour per week did not constiatersal failure to
implement);Catalanv. District of Columbia478 F. Supp. 2d 73, 75-76 (D.D.C. 2007) (where
student’s IEP called fdorty-five minutesof speech therapyer wed, the facts that several
sessions were missed because of the therapist’s unavailability and thaessioesswere cut
short because of student’s fatigue did not constitute material deviationshigdER). Here, as
Ms. Middleton argues, either 40% (if World History is included) or 20% (if Worldarss
excluded) of A.T.’s instruction was not performed in conformity with A.T.’s IBBePI.’s
Mem. at 2324, 26. The Court disagrees that such a deviatide msinimis Indeed, the Cati
cannot help but speculate that the fact that A.T. was enrolled in general educaties,cours
despite clear direction in his IEP requiring otherwise, likely compounded A.Tés difficulties
during the 2015-16 school year. The Court finds that theda to implement A.T.’s IEP were
material,thus violatingthe IDEA anddenyingA.T. a FAPE.
D. Attendance Issues

Ms. Middletonnextcontends that the school district violated the IDEA by failing to offer
sufficientinterventions to address A.T.’s dislty -related class attendance issues tghowt the
2015-16 school yeaiSeePl.’s Mem. at 27-31DCPSdoes not contest Ms. Middleton’s
assertion that it had some obligation to address A.T.’s attendance iSegB®ef.’s Mem. at 36
32. Rather, it agues that the hearing officer correctly concluded that DCPS did what it could to

address A.T.’s truancyDef.’s Mem. at 38632. The Court is persuaded that the issue of DCPS’s
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handling of A.T.’s disability-related truancy cannot be viewed in isolaticetoRl evidence
reveals that A.T.’s attendance issiemmed, in large part, from his inappropriate placement in
diplomatrack classes and in a neslf-contained program. In light of that evidence and the fact
that DCPS failed to correct either of thgseblems, the Court concludes that DCPS denied A.T.
a FAPE by failing to properly address his attendance issues.

“The IDEA . . .recognizes that the quality atchild’s education is inextricably linked to
that child’s behavior.”Harris v. District of Cdumbia 561 F. Supp. 2d 63, 68 (D.D.C. 2008).
Accordingly,regulations implementing the IDEA requiteat “the IEPteammust, in the case of
a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, consider th@ oo
behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that behavior.R.34 C.F
§ 300.324(a)(2)(i). Courts in this jurisdiction have assumed that a studgbe denied a
FAPEIf his educational plan does not contain sufficient interventioasléguately address
attendance issuesee, e.gGarris v. District of Columbia210 F. Supp. 3d 187, 191-92
(D.D.C. 2016)Presely v. Friendship Pub. Charter ScNo. 12-0131, 2013 WL 589181, *8-9
(D.D.C. Feb. 7, 2013). However, consistent with the notion that the IDEA does not prescribe
onesizefits-all interventions, these cases provide little indication of when a schootthsts
done enough to attempt to address attendance issues or, conversely, when a sctitsl distri
effortswereinadequate.

According to school records, A.T. logged 57 absences during the Z®&8BRhool year,
48 of whichwere unexcusedSeeAdmin. R. at 413. At Woodson, missing a single class results
in being marked absent for the de§eeLumumba-Umoja Tr., Admin. R. at 1939-44t the
due process hearing, Woodson’s special education catoditestified that on some dasT.

did not come tochool at all;on other days, A.Tappeared achool but did not attend certain
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classes.LumumbabUmojaTr. at1940. Several times during the school year, Ms. Middleton,
through her representatives, asked officials at Woodson to intervaddressA.T.’s atendance
issues, arguing that his attendance problems stemmed from a combination etly/“angli
confusion [that] prevent[edjim from getting to classAdmin. R. at 136, and that A.T. had not
attended certain classes because of “distresbecause he cannot understand what is happening
in the classes.’Admin. R. at 174.

The record shows that during meetings on October 19, 2015; February 9, 2016; and April
29, 2016, A.T.’s IEP Team sttussed his attendance issu8seLumumba-Umoja Tr., Admin.
R. at 1941-42see alscAdmin. R. at 377, 504-05, 552. In addition, in April 2016, Woodson
developed a Behavior Intervention Plan for A.T. Admin. R. at 541. A Functional Behavior
Assessment conducted at the same time specifically identified the envitahoogitions that
seemedd be affecting A.T.’s behavior. Admin. R. at 536. According to that assessment, A.T.
was “more likely to engage in the d@#skfesistant behaviors when he d[id] not understand an
assignment, when he d[id] not have a relatigms¥ith the staff or if there [werépo many
students in the class.” Admin. R. at 536. Similarly, the assessment noted than“fivre
[was] either a large class or a staff that he h&ftg rapport with, [A.T] wlould] frequently cut
the class” andhide[] samewhere in the schoodr “seek out support staff (i.e. social worker,
school psychologist).” Admin. R. at 536.

DCPS did not completely sit on its proverbial hands when faced with A.T.’s attendance
issues.To combat A.T.’s academic disengagement, the Behavioral Interventiosd@eified
that he would “reportidectly to the[s]ocial [w]orker or [s]chool [p]sychologist when faced with
feelings of anxiety about going to clas®dmin. R. at 545. In line with this plan, the school

psychologist testified that sherplically walked A.T. to his first period course, ahatA.T.
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would often report to hewhenhe did not want to go to class. Testimony of Theodora Jackson
(“Jackson Tr.J, Admin. R. at 1514 .She testified that she ta#with him about his hang ups

and helped him to decide how to handle the situation. Jackson Tr., Admin. R. at 1513-14. But,
in the Court’s view, these and DCPS’s few other interventions were insufficienttheder
circumstances. The school district either knew or reasonably should have knowTtisat A
issues stemmed from his inappropriate placement. Indeed, Ms. Middleton’s @aicati
advocate suggested as much early in the school year and repeatedly as phegyessedSee,
e.g, Admin. R. at 153—-62 (emails expressing concerns about A.T.’s programming and
attendance issuespnd DCPS’s own assessment of A.T. reved#had his resistance to

attending some classes stemmed, in large part, from his inability to unddngassignments
and from the size of his classeéseeAdmin. R. at 536.

Again, theCourt will not attempt to disentangle the problem of A.T.’s inappropriate
placement from his issues with attendarcey are clearly linked. Becauagreponderance of
the evidence shows that DCPS'’s behavioral interventions were insufficient naeder t
circumstanceghe Court accordingly concludes that DCPS violated the IDEA and denied A.T. a
FAPE.

E. Observation by Parent’s Educational Advocate

Ms. Middleton next argues that the hearing officer erred in finding no ddritalRE
based on DCPS’s refusal to permit Ms. Middleton’s educational advocate to conductassi
observation of A.T. unless skgned aonfidentiality agreementSeePl.’s Mem. a31-35.

The Court agrees with Ms. Middleton that the hearing officer erred. DCPS inspayiyi
conditioredthe educational advocate’s observation, in at least some respects. In so doing, it

denied Ms. Middleton’s participation rights and thereby denied A.T. a FAPE.
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The Special Edut¢imn Student Rights Act of 2014 requires the Diswic€olumbia’s
local education agencies to permit parents or their designees to obserdésacahiént or
proposed special education program. D.C. Code § 38-2571.03(5)(A). To qualify, a designee
must have “professional expertise in the area of special educatigndiserved” or must be
“necessary to facilitate an observation for a parent with a disabilitymovide language
translation assistance to a parerit’ § 38-2571.03(5)(A)(ii). However, the righd-observe
provision does not apply to a designed thaepresenting the parent’s child in litigation related
to the provision of a FAPE for that child or to a designee who has a financial imettest
outcome of such litigationld. The agency “shall not impose any conditions or restrictions on
such observations except those necessary to: (i) [e]nsure the safety ofdtenchib program;
[ii] [p]rotect other children in the program from disclosure by an observesrdgidential and
personally identifiable information in the event such information is obtained in theecoiuan
observation by a parent or a designee; or [iii] [a]void any potential disruptsamgairom
multiple observations occurring in a classroom simultaneoustly.§ 38-2571.03(5)(D).

Seeking to observe A.T. in his classroom setting, Ms. Middleton’s educational agvocate
Dr. Holman wrote to Woodson'’s special education coordinator to schedule aSesk etter
from Dr. Holman to Ms. Lumumba-Umoja (Nov. 9, 2015), Admin. R. at 140. In her reply, the
coordinator explained that DCPS requires prospective observers to sign ad@tasxrserver
Confidentiality Agreementand to identify the focus of the proposed obsirna SeeAdmin.
R. at 141, 144Insisting that the form included “many conditions/restrictions simply not
permitted under the law,” Dr. Holman refused to sign tgeeAment.SeeAdmin. R. at 150-51.
An attorney for DCPS suggested that Dr. Holman could sign the form, indicaghéhdid so

“under protest,” andspecify which conditions she regarded as inconsistattt the law
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explaining that doing so might avoid further delaying her observation. Admin. R. at 149-50.
Dr. Holman declined, reiterating her position that the Agreement “impose[d] anldn the
parent’s right to designate an observer that are illegedrhin. R. at 148. Dr. Holmaaoffered

no further clarity regarding which provisions she found objectionable and also did not provide
any additional information identifying the focus of her proposed observefieeAdmin. R. at

148.

In Ms. Middleton’s due process complaint, she argued that DCPS had denied A.T. a
FAPE by preventing his parent’s expert from observing him in his current ateSee
Admin. R. at 655-57. The hearing officer disagreed, concluding that while “DCPS did not need
to be as obstructionist as it wab)$. Middleton had not demonstrated that the observation could
not have taken place if Dr. Holman had signed the Agreement arsihimlg “marked out”any
objectionable language ih HOD, Admin. R. at 31. The hearing officer further observed that
“at leasta good portion” of the provisions were “clearly” lawful, and noted that, based on his
review on the form, he could not ascertain which provisions Dr. Holman regarded as
objectionable.HOD, Admin.R. at 28—-29.

The Court agrees with Ms. Middleton that the hearing officer’s conclusion veas er
DCPS did not afford Dr. Holman the opportunity to “mark]] out” provisions of the
confidentiality agreemenas the hearing officer concluded. Rather, DCPS encouraged Dr.
Holmanto sign the form “under protest” and“gpecify” theprovisions with which she took
issue. SeeAdmin. R. at 149-50. These instructions provided no clarity regarding whether Dr.
Holman wasstill, despite her protestxpected to abide by provisiotigat she identifieads
objectionable. And the Court further agrees that the offer to “specify” does ddikeean offer

to negotiatehe terms of Dr. Holman'’s visit.
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Having found that the confidentiality agreementluded actuatestrictions and not
simply terms that Dr. Hman could mark oubr negotiatethe Court next considers efher tle
restrictions complied with District of Columbia law. The hearing officer madesterrdination
regarding which provisions were acceptable and which wmedaly restrictve (if any). This
Court need not and will n@xamineeachprovision. It suffices to note that one provisisn
obviously unlawfulandone unlawful provision is one too many. Specifically, one provisfon
the confidentiality agreemergquired Dr. Holman to “agree that [she] w[ould] not attempt to
engage with . . . school personnel during [her] observation unless previously scheduled and
agreed to by the Principal and parent of child.” Admin. R. at 146. It is readily appexitiis$
provision bears no connection to securing the safety of the children, preservingraaifige
or avoiding the disruption arising from multiple observations. It therefore doesnfotmm to
D.C. Code § 38-2571.03(5)(A). The Court further concludes that this unlawful conditioning of
Dr. Holman’s observation significantly impeded Ms. Middleton’s opportunity to paate in
the decisionmaking process regarding the provision of a FAPE to A.T. and, therefaed, deni
A.T. a FAPE. See34 C.F.R. § 300.513(a)(2).

F. Appropriateness of A.T.’s February 2016 IEP

Ms. Middletonalsochallenges thappropriateness of A.T.’s February 2016 IEP,
asserting that A.T. was denied a FAPE because the IEP (1) impropdrhuedrhis placement
on the diploma track, (2) featured academic goals unsuitable for A.T., (3) included a pos
secondary transition plan that was not based on assessment of A.T.’s abilities aodtéia¢d
unduly vague goals, and (4) failedadequatelydentify A.T.’s least restrictive environment.
The Court agrees that DCPS denied A.T. a FAPE by continuing his placement on tha diplom

track without affordindhis parentin opportunityto participate in the decisiamaking process
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and by including some goals unsuitable for his needs and circumstances. However,tthe Cour
concludes that A.T.’s February 20[EP was otherwise appropriate.
1. Diploma Track

Just as Ms. Middleton challenged A.T.’s initial placement on the diploma track in his
April 2015 IEP, she challenges his continued placement on that track in his February 2016 IEP.
Pl’s Mem. at 36—37. The Court finds a violation & tDEA and a denial of FAPE because
DCPS significantly impeded Ms. Middletorright to participaten the placement decisiéh.

Though Ms. Middleton and Dr. Holmattended the February 2016 IEP meeting, there is
no indication that the IEP Team discussednysignificant detailA.T.’s placement on eith¢he
certificate or diploma trackDr. Holman testifiedhiat no one brought up the track decision n
discussedvhether thecertificate track might be appropriate for A.$eeHolman Tr. Admin. R.
at 1388-90. No other evidence on record indicates that Ms. Middleton received all of the
information required by a written notice of proposed placemga&34 C.F.R. § 300.503(a)
(describing the notice requirement#)s the Court explained in detail above, “a child’s
entitlement to special education should not depend upon the vigilance of the parents (who may
not be sufficiently sophisticated to comprehend the problem) nor be abridged because the
district’s behavior did not rise to the level of slothfulness or bad fahC. ex rel. J.C. v. Cent.
Redl Sch. Dist, 81 F.3d 389, 397 (3d Cir. 1996). Here, Ms. Middleton’s right to participate in
the placement decision was substantially impeded by DCPS’s failuresote fuitbcedural
requirements.Cf. N.S.ex rel. Stein v. District of Columhi&09 F. Supp. 2d 57, 70 (D.D.C.

2010) (observing that “failures to include required information in an IEP about theeseio be

8 Had DCPS discharged its obligations to fully inform Ms. Middleton at thettiai¢he
placement decision was initially made, the Court would likely view this cig@léo A.T.’s
continued placement differently.
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provided a disabled student” are more significant than failures to meet statwdhynele and
the like). Accordingly, the Court agrees with Ms. Middleton that the hearingo#rced and
that A.T. was denied a FAPE.

2. Annual Goals

Next, Ms. Middleton questions the academic goals listed on A.T.’s February 2016 IEP.
She asserts that the goals were not significantly different from #ie lggied on his prior IEP,
were unduly vague, and were not appropriate for A.T.’s level of performance Mem. at 37—
38. The Court concludes that Ms. Middleton has demonstrated that some ofgadls'svere
inappropriate, but, as explained below, others were reasonably calculated to ehatdemake
progress in light of his circumstances.

A.T.’s February 2016 IEP included mathematics, reading, and writing goals.
Specifically, A.T.’s mathematscgoals were to (1) perform the order of operations on word
problems, to “determine measures of central tendency,” and to “perform thebaperations
on polynomials.”IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 464. A.T.’s reading goals were to “identify the
plot in a literary story andupporting details,” toidentify the majoicharacters in a narrative
text,” and to “utilize graphic organizers in order to identify chronologicahtsvef a story with
supporting details.” IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 466. Finally, A.T.’s writing goals wwere
“employ the rguirements for writing a sentence by using correct spelling, punctuation,
grammar, and mechanics,” to “prepaneel developed one paragraph summary,” and to
“perform seltediting/peer review.”IEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at 468.

The Court need not belabor its analysiss@®e of the challenges £T.’s February
2016 IEP goalsverlap withthe challenges to hispril 2015 IEP goals.The Court easily rejects

Ms. Middleton’s first two arguments. A comparison of A.T.’s April 2015 and February 2016
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IEPs reveals substantially different goalsighthe Court disagrees that DCPS may have simply
carried over A.T.’s past IEP goals. Indeed, Ms. Middleton herself notes thaiallseagere
updated to reflect'8and 9" grade, rather tharf™grade common core standards. Second, the
Court disagreesdat these goals were unduly vague. Though broad, each goal is specific and
clear enough to satisfy the IDEA.

As for Ms. Middleton’s final complaint, the Court agrees in part with Ms. Middleton’s
assertion that some of the goals were inappropriate forsfé&eds and abilities. Specifically,
given A.T.’s reading and mathematics deficits, the record shows thaielent goals were not
tailored to AT.’s needs or designed to confer educational benefit. However, some of A.T.’s
writing goals appear to sppropriate. For example, the IEP included a goal of working toward
writing a full sentence. R. at 468. But others were inappropriieexample, the goal of
participating in seifand peeediting on written assignments is not sufficiently tailoreth&®
needs and circumstances of a student who is in the process of learning to read ankhusite
the Court agrees in part with both parties and finds a partial violation of the IDEA

3. PostSecondaryTransition Plan

Ms. Middleton argues that the post-secondary transition plan in A.T.’s February 2016
“suffers from the same issues” as the April 2015 plan. Pl’s Mem. at 38. Nanuadiag to
Ms. Middleton, the plan did not appropriately take into account A.T.’lsskild abilities
because it was mdased on iappropriate assessmen®l.’s Mem. at 38—39DCPS disagrees,
asserting thahe transition plan was based on appropriate assessments. Def.’s Mem. at 18-19.
The hearing officefound no violation of the IDEA, concluding based on record testintioaty
the assessments conducted were age appropriate, that no further assegsmeatplired, and

that A.T.’s transition plan was reasonably calculated to enable him to receivé@thidzenefit.
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HOD, Admin.R. at 2. Based on the record before the Court, the Court finds no violation of the
IDEA and no denial of FAPE with respect to this transition plan.

The transition plan featured in A.T.’s February 2016 IEP was based on three
assessments(l) “What's Your Learning Style?,” (2) the “Job Related Interest Inveritang
(3) “Independent Living AssessmentSeeDef.’s Mem. at 18; Admin. R. at 880-89 he first
assessment features questions that assist a student in understanding how hefershaearn
and to approach new informatioBeeAdmin. R. at 880-81. The second assessment features
guestions about a student’s jodlated interests and preferendesluding, for example, whether
the student prefers to work alone or with otheé8seAdmin. R. at 882—83. And the final
assesment states that it is designed “[t]o discriminate ability for safe independeagtwithin
an apartment setting.Admin. R. at 884. At the due process hearing, Mr. Nace, an expert in
transition planning, testified that the assessments were appropriate feragd. Nace Tr.,
Admin. R. at 1893 He explained that, asranth-grade student, A.T. was still in the
“exploration” phase of transition plannindienhis Féoruary 2016 IEP was developed. Nace
Tr., Admin. R. at 1892-93. According to Mr. Nace, the transition plan for a ninth-grade student
should “focus on exploration . . . regardless of [the stuglgiuhctioning level.” Nace Tr.,
Admin. R. at 1892-93. In seeking to undermine Mr. Nace’s contentions, Ms. Middleton argues
that nae of the assessmeifitgused on A.T.’s skills and abilitieSeePl.’s Mem. at 38—40.
Ms. Middleton also notes that A.T.’s transition plan did not mention his inability to read, his
difficulties navigatingand other disabilityelated weaknesses that might prevent him from
achieving his goals. Pl.’s Mem. at 39.

Though the Court is sympathetic to Ms. Middleton’s position that A.T.’s transition plan

would have been better if it had been based on additskib-related assessments, the Court
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finds no violation of the IDEA based on DCPS’s failure to conduct such assessmentsac#ir. N
testified that at A.T.’s age, assessments focus primarily on explor&esNace Tr., Admin. R.

at 1892-93. Ms. Middleton does not dispute that the assetssthanwere conductedight

help a student to determine his or her interests, and she points to no evidence in the record
undermining the notion that, at A.T.’s age, this sort of assessment suffices. Aglyoittia

Court cannot say that the hearing officepmgly concluded that the assessments were age
appropriate and sufficient.

As for Ms. Middleton’s contention that the goals featured on A.T.’s transition plan wer
too vague and were inappropriate given A.T.’s skills and abilities, Ms. Middletofaited to
identify any procedural or substantive inadequacy in the plan that violatesBAe Mhat
A.T.’s longterm goals were somewhatoad reveals no infirmity in the plan, especially in light
of Mr. Nace’s contentions that, at A.T.’s age, schools generally focus student{sanmex
possiblecareer interests. Mr. Nace explained that, at this stage, “typically [tcengdals] [are]
broader because a student has no clue really, the student has no clue becag$est'srtte
they are ever even tatlg about the concept of transition and so it wouldn’t be fair to put specific
things in there when the&tudent really doesn’t know.” Nace Tr., Admin. R. at 1897-98. And
Ms. Middleton asserts that A.T. could not meet his stewrt+ gods—which included using the
internet to identify job training programs and betoring two or three careers of interest to
him. Pl’s Mem. at 39. However, she ignores that, with respect to his research canodrni
training programs, the IEP expligithotedhe would conduct the research with the assistance of
his case manager. 2/9/2016 IEP, Admin. R. at 478. Ms. Middleton offers no evidence for the

claim that A.T. could not be expected to identify other careers of interest to hifmeand t

57



requirements fothose careers. In sum, the Court finds no violation of the I@EArespect to
A.T.’s February 2016 post-secondary transition plan.
4. Least Restrictive Environment

The hearing officer found that A.T.February 2016 IEP adequately described his least
restrictive environment and that any lack of additional specificity constitufgrocedural
violation, but not a substantive one. Admin. R. at 32. Ms. Middleton argues that this was error.
She contends that the IEP did not include essential information about A.T.’s placerhent in t
SLS pogram at Woodson. She further contends that because this information was natdisted a
not specifically discussed at the IEP meetstge had no information about A.3specific
program placement. Pl.’s Mem. at 38. The Coudgtisesvith Ms. Middleton.

In Brown v. District of Columbial79 F. Supp. 3d 15 (D.D.C. 2016), one court in this
jurisdiction concluded that “given the emphasis the IDEA places on the concepdt®Eaand
thecentral role the IEP plays in the broader statutory framework, . . . andBHdeequired to
discuss a student’s specific LRE and the IEP is required to include a ledest description of
it.” 1d. at 27. The court explained that, “[i]f that weret the case, it would be very difficult to
ensure that the IEP ‘enables the child to achieve passing marks and advargradi®io grade
in the least restrict environment possibléd’ (quotingDixonv. District of Columbia83 F.

Supp. 3d 223, 232 (D.D.C. 20}5)in that case, the student’s IEP listed only the number of
hours of specialized instruction and behavioral support services that the student weuéd rec
and noted that the student requir@dénse remediation in all areasBrown, 179 F. Supp. 3dt
19. The Court concluded that “the school destsifailure to fully discuss the LRE at the IEP

meeting or describe it on the IEP itself effectively demtigkaintiff of the opportunity ‘to
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understand what services will be provided and make a determination about whether the proposed
placement is adequate.ld. at 28(quotingStein 709 F. Supp. 2d at 70).

A.T.’s February 2016 IEP supplistibstantiallymore detailabout the student’s LRE
than the one iBrown A.T.’s IEP provided that he has “significant math and reading deficits
and severe memory retention problems that require small group or one-on-oneamstruct
significant modifications and differentiation in order to access learning ialaterAdmin. R. at
473. Furthermore, the IEP noted that A.T. had “significant language and comtiamndzdicits
that affect both his academic learning and social skikglimin. R. at 473. The Court agrees
with the hearingfficer that this description certainly could have been more thorough. However,
it disagrees with Ms. Middleton that A.T. was deniddA®E based on any inadequacies in the
description of A.T.’s LRE.As written, thelEP explainedthat A.T. must receive small group or
one-on-one instruction and modifications, whieis—for the most part, at leastthe type of
programming A.T. received at Woodson in the SLS prograseelEP 2/9/2016, Admin. R. at
449. Though the program was not cited by name, the record shows that Ms. Middleton was
aware of the type of instruction A.T. had been receiving. Indeed, Dr. Holman's|savarks
detailed the typef instruction and asked thA.T. be placed in an even more restrictive
environment. Under these circumstances, the Court concludes that, unlike the pidntévn,
Ms. Middleton was not precluded from participating in the placement processsasgtaf any
deficiencies irthe description of her child’s LREThus, any deficiencies with respect to this
issue were not material.

-
With respect to A.T.’s February 201BP, the Court concludes that DCPS violated the

IDEA and denied A.T. a FAPE when it continubé diploma trackplacementvithout
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complying with important procedural requirements that promote parental patioaimn

educational placement decisions and based on its inclusion of inappropriate acaddésn g

his IEP. However, the Court finds no error in the IH@&termination that the IE€bntainedan

appropriate post-secondary transition plan and an adequate description of A.T..'s LRE
G. Relief

Having concluded that the preponderance of the evidence shatW3CPS violated the
IDEA and denied A.T. a FAPE, the Court next considers Ms. Middleton’s request far késief
Middleton asks for compensatory relief for any denials of FAPE for which shedtalready
been compensated. Compl. at 35-36e alsaequests an order specifying that A.T. requires an
IEP and corresponding placement and programming that includes (1) a minimum of 32 hours per
week of specialized instruction outside of the general education settinga¢2jrant on the
certificate track and in smagjroup programming that focuses on funeéitddaily living skills
and vocational training; (3) a “results-oriented, realistic, and appropriatsqustidary
transitionplan” base on comprehensive assessments. Compl. at 36.

The Court concludes that remand to the hearing officer is in order in this case. The D.C
Circuit has held that a district court may remand for the purposes of consideawgiahof
compensatory education following a finding that a child was denied a FAP&Reid ex rel.

Reid v. District of Columbiad01 F.3d 516, 526 (D.C. Cir. 2005ge alsdBranham ex rel.
Branham v. Gov't of D.C427 F.3d 7, 13 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (holding thRidpermits the
district court to either take supplemental evidence or to return the case &atimg fofficer”).
And district courts in this jusdiction frequently remanidr such a determinatiorSee, e.qg.
Wilson v. District of ColumbiaZ70 F. Supp. 2d 270, 277 (D.D.C. 20WWalker v. District of

Columbig 786 F. Supp. 2d 232, 239 (D.D.C. 2011). Here, remand is appropriate libeause
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hearingofficer is better situated than this Court to take additional evidenoggke further
factual findings, and to evaluate A.T.’s current educational needs in designeqgptiopriate
relief. Accordingly, the Court remands this case to the hearing offiteingtructions to Craft
an award that ‘aim[s] to place [A.T.] in the same plgegd would have occupied but for the
school district’s violations dthe] IDEA.” Henry v. District of Columbia750 F. Supp. 2d 94,

99 (D.D.C. 2010) (quotingeid 401 F.3d at 518).

V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Cagndntsin part and denies in pavts. Middleton’s
motion for summary judgment , and also grants in part and denies thga&istrict's motion
for summary judgmentThis case is remanded for further pratiags consistent with this
Opinion and for a determination of the appropriate relief. An order consistent with this

Memorandum Opinion is separately and contemporaneously issued.

Dated: June 4, 2018 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States District Judge
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